









### Scientific Report 1997-98

Centre for Ecology & Hydplogy Natural Environment Research Council



# The IH mission

We seek to advance and apply hydrological science to improve the management and sustainable use of fresh water for a better environment and an improved quality of life

Priority is given to.

- research leading to increased understanding of the hydrological cycle and of its component physical, chemical and biological processes.
- experimentation, monitoring and modelling to investigate variability and change in freshwater systems to reveal and predict the impact of human activities.
- securing relevant data to further such research and provide a sound basis for advace in the broad area of water affairs and public services

Scientific Report of the Institute of Hydrology 1997/98

Centre for Ecology and Hydrology

Natural Environment Research Council



### Foreword

The environmental agenda has shown no diminution during the year. Issues such as deforestation, dryland degradation and climate change persist. Natural disasters, resulting from flood and drought, have caused disruption to the lives of millions of people and many deaths worldwide. Manmade disasters, resulting from pollution or other causes, are all too evident.

Internationally, there is a growing political will to address such problems. The Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) addressed the major theme of Freshwater during 1998. CSD reaffirmed that water resources are essential for satisfying basic human needs, health and food production, energy, the restoration and maintenance of ecosystems, and for social and economic development in general. The Right Honourable Michael Meacher, MP, Minister for the Environment, in presenting the 1998 NERC Lecture, showed both his personal and the Government's commitment towards sustainable management.

To address such issues a multidisciplinary approach is needed and CEH, with one of the strongest capabilities in the world for undertaking holistic research in the terrestrial and freshwater sciences, is well placed in this respect.

The NERC Council places a high value on our science and has shown a willingness to invest in the future of CEH through a programme of rationalisation and restructuring. The first step has been to approve a £2.86 million extension to CEH's Wallingford site. I am confident that investments at other CEH sites, rising from the restructuring package approved by Council last year, will be made during the coming years.

The impact of the rationalisation and restructuring activity has understandably caused some uncertainty amongst staff during the year. However, despite this, staff remain highly skilled, innovative and well motivated, and it is to their credit that, during these uncertain times, they have not only maintained scientific output but increased it in some areas. For example, CEH peer review publications have increased by 21% this year over last.

Under the leadership of its Director, Professor Jim Wallace,

CEH's Institute of Hydrology has had an excellent year. During the year, the Institute has contributed fully to the Centre's Science Programmes and has joint research projects in place with all the other CEH Institutes. Further details of these scientific activities are presented in this report.

This year's annual reporting follows the arrangement established last year, whereby the CEH Annual Report provides an overview of our scientific progress and principal achievements, while the Scientific Reports of the Centre's component Institutes: Institute of Freshwater Ecology Institute of Freeshwater Ecology Institute of Terrestrial Ecology Institute of Virology and

Environmental Microbiology present more detailed reviews of the science. I commend this Scientific Report from the Institute of Hydrology to you, together with the overview CEH Annual Report and the complementary reports from the other CEH Institutes.

> Professor W B Wilkinson Director, Centre for Ecology & Hydrology

### Contents

#### **Director's introduction**

Soil and soil/vegetation interactions	4			
Controlling water use of agroforestry trees by pruning				
Woxdland canopy described from leaf litter	6			
Land use science	9			
Coalburn: 30 years young	9			
Quantification and causes of upland erosion	10			
The urban environment	12			
Urban runoff in mixed urban/rural catchments	12			
Freshwater resources	15			
Water resources for hydropower production	15			
Maintaining hydropower production at				
Tarbela Reservoir, Pakistan				
Simple, robust integrated hydrochemical				
catchment models for use in water planning	17			
Environmental assessment of hydropower generation	18			
Pollution	19			
Phosphorus dynamics in the River Kennet	19			
Impact of pesticides on river ecology in headwater streams	20			
Modelling-surface water acidification at the UK scale	21			
Environmental risks and extreme events	23			
HYREX: HYdrological Radar Experiment	23			
Digital data and the Flood Estimation Handbook — an example	25			
New elevation-dependent snowmelt model for flood forecasting	26			
Global change	27			
Arctic hydrology	27			
Impact of climate change on river flooding in the UK	29			
Integrating generic science	31			
Information and communication technology activities	31			
European Rivers and Catchments (ERICA)	32			
Appendices				
1 NERC structure	34			
2 IH staff	35			
3 III research projects	38			
Publications	40			

,



### Director's Introduction

The importance of water in sustaining a healthy environment has never been more clearly recognised. Evidence of this is the high profile water has been given by numerous national and international agencies, including UK government departments (DFID, DETR, MAFF), the Environment Agency, the recent EU Freshwater Assessment and the United Nations Commission for Sustainable Development. Closer to home, 1998 saw the highly successful British Hydrological Society conference at Exeter addressing the key issues concerned with Hydrology in a Changing Environment. Institute staff were involved in all of these national and international ventures, helping to deliver progress in the hydrological sciences and set the future research agenda.

It has been another excellent year for hydrological research: IH staff have made basic scientific discoveries and delivered novel applications for solving important environmental problems. This second annual Science Report contains a number of examples of this progress. Research into the bio-physical processes which control energy and gas exchange at the land surface continues to explore important new areas. Northern latitudes, where vast areas of wetlands may be emitting huge amounts of greenhouse gases, are now being investigated. In collaboration with Scandinavian and Russian colleagues, field experiments have now been established in Finland and Western Siberia. Initial data are revealing the critical role that the hydrology of these areas plays in controlling the emission of carbon dioxide and methane. At a completely different scale, and back in the UK, IH scientists have been collaborating with the Institute of Terrestrial Ecology in developing new field methods for estimating the amount and vertical distribution of foliage in forests. These techniques can provide hydrological and ecological models with the parameters they need without resort to laborious destructive sampling.

It has been a landmark year for catchment research at IH. The results of 30 years of observations at the Plynlimon catchments in Wales were brought together in a Special Issue of *Hydrology and Earth Systems Science*. Like all good scientific investigations, the analyses presented challenged some of the initial assumptions about these catchments: Were they really impermeable? Is there a climatic signal emerging? Other long term catchment work at IH was also reviewed during the year, with the Coalburn catchment in northern England revealing just how long it takes (>25 years) for the full effects of plantation forestry to be seen in the water balance. IH commitment to catchment research continues Large investments are being made in the equipment monitoring the Plynlimon catchments and new research programmes for lowland catchments are being developed.

Much progress has also been made in water quality research. New projects have looked at the processes controlling the transfer of pollutants such as nutrients and pesticides to rivers. The latest findings indicate that although point sources of phosphorus from sewage works have been reduced, there are still significant diffuse sources. The pesticide studies have shown that after rainfall several agricultural chemicals appear in rivers at concentrations above the EU guidelines for drinking water. However, tests of this polluted water have not yet shown up any toxic effects.

Environmental impacts are forming an increasing part of the IH research portfolio. An example is the recent joint study with HR Wallingford and TAMS UK to look at extending the life of the Tarbela dam in Pakistan. This reservoir is being affected by sedimentation which is threatening vital hydropower and irrigation facilities. Although the proposed engineering solutions are both expensive and potentially environmentally damaging, they are less so than the alternative of constructing new thermal power stations to compensate for the loss of energy should Tarbela fail

A successor to the 1975 *Flood Studies Report* is now almost complete. The new scheme, called the Flood Estimation Handbook (FEH), is currently being tested externally and includes many novel aspects including new methods for estimating river flow peaks. The production of the handbook - and accompanying software and digital catchment data - is very timely. given the heightened concern over flood estimation resulting from disastrous floods in central England and parts of Wales last Easter. The FEH has ventured into new territory by recommending a method in which flood data are pooled according to catchment similarity rather than geographical position. This approach should revolutionise regional frequency analysis.

IH is also studying the potential impacts of climate change on flooding. Most of the studies so farhave looked at impacts on average flows, but the IH study has focused on extreme flows. Initial analyses suggest that if future rainfall scenarios are correct, then there may be large changes in both the magnitude and frequency of flooding in the UK.

The collation, quality control and dissemination of hydrological data also remain a central remit of IH. The past year has seen much innovation here too, with the first clectronic Hydrological Yearbook, and the completion of the impressive LOIS environmental data handling system. The electronic yearbook not only saves on publication costs, but allows muchwider access to this important annual compendium of rainfall, river flow, groundwater and basin evaporation data. Again, the cooperation of the British Geological Survey Hydrogeology group at Wallingford has been invaluable

The LOIS data system is unique in its ability to handle and display data

simultaneously from diverse parts of the environment, often obtained at very different time and spatial scales: Already the LOIS data viewer is available in CD format, complete with its intelligent query software. The successful creation of this type of database is an important step in developing the ability to build the Earth System models called for in NERC's science strategy *Looking Forward*.

This short introduction cannot do justice to the full range of excellent work carried out by IH staff in the past year. An indication of the overall productivity can be gleaned from the publication list in Appendix 4, 1997 saw a highly commendable 26% increase in refereed journal publications by IH staff and data collected to date show that this level of publication output has been sustained during 1998. Lencourage readers not only to peruse the rest of this report, but also to study, comment on and debate our scientific findings.

Jim Wallace

#### CEH CORE STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES



The Science Programme of CEH provides a base that underpins national and international requirements in the terrestrial and freshwater sciences. The Programme is wide-ranging and is divided into ten component Programmes, all of which address issues of current environmental relevance and important scientific challenges. The Programme as a whole involves extensive collaboration with academic organisations throughout the world and with international research programmes.

## CEH Science Programme

#### I: Soils and Soil-Vegetation Interactions

This programme is designed to improve our understanding and ability to model key soil processes controlling the transformations of materials within soils and the flux of water through the soil–vegetation– atmosphere continuum.

#### 2: Land Use Science

This is aimed at promoting an integrated approach to land use science that is applicable to the wide range of user community requirements. The programme's themes will be developed to provide the basis for large-scale, long-term analytical studies of major land use change.

#### 3: The Urban Environment

This relatively new programme aims to extend the interdisciplinary knowledge base and to understand the key environmental patterns and processes in urban situations and particularly change due to human activities. This knowledge is required to plan more sustainable urban environments.

#### 4: Freshwater Resources

Increasing demands on freshwater resources have resulted in the need for a scientific basis for the effective strategic and sustainable management of freshwater resources. This programme will address this by integrating CEH research in the areas of water quantity, water quality, and the ecological aspects of freshwater systems.

#### 5: Biodiversity

Aimed at improving our understanding of microbiological and biological resources at a range of spatial scales. The research considers the underlying processes and resulting functions, and directs knowledge to the sustainable management of biodiversity.

#### 6: Pest and Disease Control and Risk Assessment for GMOs

The primary aim of this programme is to undertake research in the provision of novel pest and disease control strategies whilst addressing any possible risk to the environment. The use of molecular biology is essential to maintain a novel and progressive approach to the themes of pest control and animal disease control.

#### 7: Pollution

This programme is aimed at developing a better understanding of generic processes such as atmospheric transport, fluxes of pollutants and the fate of pollutants, in order to predict more accurately the likely impacts on environments and organisms.

#### 8: Environmental Risks and Extreme Events

This research programme will develop understanding of how environmental extremes affect mankind and the natural environment, developing quantitative, predictive tools to describe these effects, and contributing to mitigating measures.

#### 9: Global Change

This programme will help to reduce uncertainty in the magnitude of global change and its impacts. The research is focused on improving the accuracy of global change predictions through measurement programmes, the development of scaling-up methods and models, and the identification of ecosystem responses.

**10: Integrating Generic Science** Programme 10 has been designed to provide a research framework for those areas of CEH science which underpin the nine other programmes (e.g. providing the data and the technological support), as well as conducting its own fundamental research.

The following section of this Scientific Report describes research that is currently being carried out in eight of the ten programmes by the Institute of Hydrology. Further details of the themes and issues that make up each of the ten Science Programmes are listed in Appendix 3 of the CEH Annual Report.

Most of the world's vegetation grows in mixtures. It is therefore important to be able to model the water use of these systems correctly to predict the responses of vegetation to different management options and/or global change.

A major control on water use by vegetation is the amount, distribution and efficiency of foliage in canopies. Methods and approaches which do not rely on time-consuming, destructive methods need to be developed.

## Soil and soil-vegetation interactions



Figure 1. ICRAF colleagues measuring of soil water content in a *Grevillea robusta/* maize agroforestry system with an IH neutron probe soil moisture meter.

#### CONTROLLING WATER USE OF AGROFORESTRY TREES BY PRUNING

Agroforestry is often promoted as a sustainable agricultural production system whereby woody plants are grown in combination either with agricultural crops or with pasture and livestock. Agroforestry therefore has the potential to increase yields by obtaining two or more farming products from a single piece of land. Success will be limited by competition for resources between trees and crops, particularly for light and water, so a key research objective is to find management strategies such as tree pruning to minimise this competition.

We have been collaborating with the International Centre for Research in Agroforestry (ICRAF), on a study of the competition for water in a hillslope agroforestry system. At the ICRAF research station at Machakos, Kenya, 20 m × 20 m plots were planted with silky oak *Grevillea robusta* (a popular tree among East African farmers) and/or maize, in the following arrangements:

- Sole tree treatment with trees planted in a 3 m × 4 m grid pattern without any understorey crop;
- Agroforestry (tree + crop) treatment: trees planted in the same 3 m × 4 m arrangement, but with an understorey of maize planted in rows 1 m

apart, approximately 0.3 m between plants in a row;

 Sole crop treatment: Maize planted in the same arrangement as in the agroforestry plots, but without an upper storey of trees.

Using arrays of neutron probe access tubes, soil moisture content was measured at weekly intervals throughout the soil profile in all three treatments (Figure 1). In the period following establishment of an agroforestry system, and when the tree height is still small relative to the height of the crop, competition for light and water is very different from later on when the trees are nearing their harvest size. If the trees are pruned at all at this early stage, it is to ensure that the trunks will grow straight, and thus have a higher economic value, or else to provide fodder for livestock during the dry seasons. Pruning later on in the lifetime of the system, although providing fodder, also acts as a means of regulating competition for light and water.

Closely planted trees on shallow soils, such as we had in this experiment, will exploit almost the entire soil volume with their extensive root system. Any annual plants, including the maize crop in this case, have to try and establish their root systems in the face of extreme competition from the trees. Severe tree canopy pruning, as practised by many Kenyan farmers, substantially reduces the leaf area on each tree available to evaporate water, hence reducing the overall water demand of the tree. If pruning is carried out immediately before the crops are planted, crop root systems can develop in the face of reduced tree/crop competition for water.

Figure 2 demonstrates the effect of pruning the tree canopy in the Machakos trial on the available water throughout the soil profile (0.1 to 1.7 m). The changes in soil water content in the agroforestry system (trees + maize), as determined from series of neutron probe data, are compared with changes in plots with either trees or crops grown alone.



**Figure 2.** Changes in soil water content profiles  $(\theta, m^3 m^3)$  in the three treatments following rainfall events in 1993 (when the trees were young), 1996 (before radical pruning) and 1997 (after pruning). Data are mean values for each treatment, a week before rain ( $\blacktriangle$  / red), one or two weeks after rain ( $\circ$  / green) and four to five weeks after rain ( $\circ$  / blue).

#### Tree pruning is a powerful control on the water balance in agroforestry systems

The graphs on the left-hand side show changes occurring during November and December 1993, when the trees were only two years old and not yet large enough to out-compete the crops for water. The increases and decreases in soil water content of the whole. 1.7 m soil profile (Table 1) were smaller under maize, either grown alone or with trees, than when the trees were grown on their own. Ground cover at this stage was largely dominated by the maize crop, and greater recharge in the tree-only plots reflects less canopy interception

 Table 1. Increases and decreases in soil profile water storage (mm) for each of the graphs in Figure 2

	1993 Short rains		1996 Long rains		1997 Long rains	
	25 Nov -9 Dec	9 Dec 23 Dec	28 Mar –11 Apr	11 Apr –2 May	20 Mar –17 Apr	17 Apr –8 May
Sole crop	+ 66.5	- 37.6	+ 84.5	- 20.2	+ 130.4	· 57 3
Sole tree	+ 79.2	- 52.1	+ 43.2	- 37.8	+ 132.9	- 44 0
Tree + crop	+ 69.9	- 45.5	+ 24.2	- 25.8	+ 70.9	· 20 7

The middle set of neutron probe profiles were recorded during March and June 1996, when the trees had reached a height of 8 m and with the maximum canopy size observed during the experiment. The soil in the sole crop wetted up completely, with drainage occurring to below 1.7 m Little recharge occurred below 1.0 m in the tree+crop plot, and no drainage was observed beyond 1.7 m in either plot containing trees. This was attributed to intense abstraction in the top 1.0 m of soil

The tree canopies were heavily pruned after this season, following local management practices, removing almost 90% of the canopy volume. The right-hand series of neutron probe data were recorded following pruning, during March and June 1997. Pruning doubled the rainfall input to the soil in the tree only plots, relative to the input to the sole crop plots, and increased it by 25% in the agroforestry treatment. These increases were attributed to reductions in both the canopy rainfall interception, and in soil water abstraction by tree roots.

This study shows that prinning can be a powerful means of controlling the water balance of agroforestry systems. Removing substantial amounts of the tree canopy just before the crop was planted reduced the water demand of the tree component and resulted in a similar degree of recharge to the crop rooting zone as when the trees were younger. The crop also then produced an acceptable economic yield in the following two growing seasons

Contact Nick Jackson

#### WOODLAND CANOPY DESCRIBED FROM LEAF LITTER

The structure and functioning of any vegetation canopy plays a key role in the control of mass and energy fluxes between the surface and the atmosphere. Total leaf area index is the principal parameter by which the canopy is quantified and for many applications this parameter will provide an adequate description of the canopy. However, the efficiency of many physiological processes varies within a canopy and there is a need for additional information. about the vertical distribution of foliage and any associated variation in structure, chemistry and leaf physiology.

If there is access to the canopy, some of these leaf structural and chemical properties can be sampled directly, but when there is no access, a potentially useful alternative is to estimate canopy functioning and its spatial variability from analysis of leaf litter.

Vertical profiles of living and senesced leaf samples were taken through the canopy of a deciduous woodland at Wytham, just outside Oxford, dominated by oak (Ouercus robur L). Wytham Woods are owned by Oxford University and are a NERC-sponsored site in the Environmental Change Network. Collaborating with Mike Morecroft (ITE) we have been using an extensive scaffolding walkway system to gain direct access to the crowns of several trees. The samples, organised into specific leaf area classes, were ground to powder and analysed for nitrogen (N) and carbon isotope discrimination (13C). The vertical distribution of leaves within the oak canopy was estimated by counting touches with the canopy from a vertically dropped plumbline at several sampling points on the walkway.



Figure 3. Part of the scaffolding walkway in Wytham Woods.



Figure 4. Frequency distribution of specific leaf area in oak leaf litter samples from collections at Wytham Wood, Oxford in 1996



Figure 5. Relationship between canopy position and specific leaf area of green leaves (green) and senesced leaves (red), Wytham Wood, Oxford

Leaf litter was collected from late summer to mid-winter in 1996 and around 800 leaves were individually measured for dry weight and area to calculate specific leaf area (SLA; Figure 4). Chemical analyses were also performed on SLA classes in the litter. Figure 5 shows the variation of SLA with height for leaves taken through the oak canopy in early October 1996, when the leaves were green, and November 1996, when they were senescent. At both times there is a highly significant negative relationship, with SLA decreasing linearly with increasing height in the canopy, i.e. going up through the canopy, the ratio of leaf area to weight decreased.

Leaf litter has potential as a powerful diagnostic tool, since some properties such as nitrogen content and specific leaf area are correlated with physiological behaviour, particularly maximum photosynthetic rates



Figure 6. Relationship between specific leaf area and (a) <sup>13</sup>C and (b) leaf nitrogen content litter leaves of living canopy leaves, (green); senescent canopy leaves (red) and litter leaves (black) in 1996.

Figure 6 shows that <sup>13</sup>C and leaf N decline systematically with SLA in green, senescent and litter leaves. The difference of around -2% in <sup>13</sup>C between leaves of largest and smallest SLA, which correspond to the highest and lowest canopy position, is similar to the gradients in 13C reported for canopies of a range of forest types. The general view is that vertical differences in <sup>13</sup>C of leaves in forest canopies are strongly associated with changes in the ratio of CO, concentrations in the external atmosphere and leaf intercellular spaces, caused by variation in photosynthetic characteristics along environmental gradients in canopies and changes in hydraulic architecture within tree crowns, rather than to vertical gradients of <sup>13</sup>C of the air within the canopy. We have observed differences in the litter chemistry between 1996 and earlier studies in 1993 which relate closely to known soil moisture and climatic differences between the two years.

Estimates of the frequency distribution of the vertical position of leaves from the SLA distribution in the litter and the information about the position of leaves of that SLA in the canopy agreed very well in relative terms to the direct measurements of canopy density. This study shows that analysis of forest litter can be used to reconstruct the vertical profile of leaf properties in the living canopy. There is considerable scope to extend this work. It will be necessary to know the relationships between living leaf properties and those in the litter for a wider range of species and conditions. To allocate the foliage spatially, the height and depth of canopy will also need to be known, and ways of doing this without canopy access need to be investigated. Leaf properties will vary at any particular height because of the important influence of different radiation conditions on leaf properties. A final question is to what extent the height distribution of leaves matches variations in other conditions that also influence leaf properties.

Contact: John Roberts

The Institute's research catchments have played a key role in securing general acceptance by the forest and water industries of the practical significance of the much higher evaporation losses from forests than from shorter vegetation. In wet, upland climates the rate of evaporation of water intercepted on tree foliage is much higher than that from grasses due to the greater aerodynamic roughness of the taller forest canopy generating air turbulence to transport the water vapour away from the vegetation surface. Water resources — stream-water supplies and groundwater recharge — are diminished as a direct consequence. This general principle is applicable for forested areas around the world. Given the extensive research facilities available in these catchments, they have naturally become the focus for additional investigations, such as water chemistry and sediment studies, in addition to their use as an open air laboratory for teaching and research purposes.

### Land use science

#### COALBURN: 30 YEARS YOUNG

The smaller study at Coalburn'in Northumberland was originally intended to deal just with the early hydrological impacts of afforestation. The research programme has subsequently expanded and developed into a continuing study of forestry growth effects, providing a unique British study from planting through to canopy closure. It is now intended to continue to the felling of the crop around 2010. The Coalburn study has shown very clearly the different hydrological impacts of forestry drainage and forest

growth, and demonstrated for the first time the potentially very long term influence of the ground cultivation.

The first full year of study was 1967, when the 1.5 km<sup>2</sup> study area' comprised short, moorland vegetation. After a five-year preforestry 'baseline' period, the catchment was plough drained in 1972; in the following year 90% of the catchment was planted with coniferous species, principally Sitka spruce *Picea sticbensis* 

In the early years of forest growth<sup>+</sup> the pre-planting forestry drainage dominated the hydrology and the This unique study of forest development from planting to canopy closure — finds the hydrological behaviour of plantations to be different from that derived from studies of mature trees alone



Figure 7. Annual difference between actual evaporation losses (precipitation minus streamflow) and Penman potential evaporation values (mm), together with 5-year moving average.





observed changes were quite different to those normally associated with forestry. Peak flows were enhanced and baseflows were augmented. Evaporation was initially reduced as a result of the extensive ground disruption by the drainage, and although it slowly increased with tree growth, the values were depressed for an unexpectedly long period - over one-third of the expected commercial life-span of the forest. The forest growth (Yield Class 12) is fairly typical of upland areas.

Current measured forest interception losses (for 10-12 m tall trees) are about 25%, which is lower than values of about 35% obtained elsewhere in the UK for similar climatic conditions, but more mature trees than those at Coalburn. These results suggest that significant areas of plantation forests may function hydrologically in very different ways to what is generally assumed from studies of mature forests.

Details of the hydrological studies over 30 years at Coalburn (which include many aspects of water quality and soil moisture as well as water balance and extreme flows) are given in IH Report No. 133.

Contact: Mark Robinson

#### QUANTIFICATION AND CAUSES OF UPLAND EROSION

MAFF has recently commissioned research by CEH (IH, IFE and ITE), Cranfield University Soil Survey and Land Research Centre, and Silsoe College to quantify the extent and causes of soil erosion in the uplands of England and Wales.

The role of this Institute within this project is to enhance the existing long-term suspended sediment monitoring network within the IH Experimental Catchments at Plynlimon. This includes additional continuous turbidity monitoring on the Afon Cyff, an unforested moorland/grassland headwater catchment of the River Wve (Figure 9). The high resolution (15minute) turbidity and flow data are then used to collate a continuous record of suspended sediment flux from the catchment, and thereby create an integrated measure of surface erosion within its 3.13 km<sup>2</sup> area.

Figure 10 shows the 1997 rating curves of suspended sediment concentration against discharge for the flow gauging sites with

LAND USE

turbidity monitoring. This reveals that suspended sediment outputs decrease in the order: *Nant Tanlluytb* > *Afon Hafren* > *River Severn* > *Afon Cyff.* 

The differences in suspended sediment outputs between the afforested catchments in the Severn basin can be explained by the positive correlation of particulate outputs with the proportion of the catchment area affected by recent timber harvesting operations. Suspended sediment outputs from all afforested catchments are higher than from the unforested moorland/grassland Afon Cyff catchment.

The existing manual streamwater sampling programme has also been enhanced to include flood sampling at all flow gauging sites, and subsequent analysis for suspended sediment concentration by vacuum filtration. To integrate the physical and chemical suspended sediment budgets, filtered sediment residue is subsequently analysed for carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus and LOI by the Institute of Freshwater







Figure 9. Long-term sediment monitoring network within the Plynlimon experimental catchments

Ecology. Bedload transport is also measured in the Afon Cyff and Nant Tanllwyth to calculate the total sediment yields from these catchments.

This study will benefit from the historical record of sediment dynamics research within the IH Plynlimon Experimental Catchments since 1972. An accurate record of agricultural practice is available, as good links have been maintained with the single landowner of the Upper Wye headwater area since records began.

As well as providing a measure of surface erosion, catchment sediment dynamics can enable the significance of soil erosion to upland receiving waters to be assessed. Linking catchment surface impacts with the other investigations being undertaken for this project will provide an integrated approach to the assessment of upland soil erosion.

Contact: Stephen Marks

Monitoring sediment dynamics helps to assess the impact of soil erosion on upland receiving waters The hydrology of urban areas is of increasing concern. There is a need for more efficient and sustainable water management methods to protect local water resources, to optimise the use of surface and groundwater, to control local storm and pollutant runoff, and to help create attractive urban environments. In addition to commissioned studies on urban flood runoff, one of which is described below, the Institute's urban bydrology programme includes core studies on modelling urban water balances and a new project on sediment balances and channel habitat opportunities as part of the NERC Thematic Programme, URGENT.

# The urban environment

#### URBAN RUNOFF IN MIXED URBAN/RURAL CATCHMENTS

It is widely recognised that urbanisation can increase the volume and speed of flood response, so drainage engineers often use storage reservoirs, tanks and ponds to 'balance' the impact. However, the necessity and effectiveness of this storage is rarely assessed on a wholecatchment basis, particularly in larger catchments with several storages and mixed land-use.

SCHEME — an IH model to assist with more effective flood control strategies

Methods for assessing T-year floods in such catchments are poorly defined, and detailed monitoring for model development and verification are virtually nonexistent. This study aimed (a) to establish a record of flood response throughout a complex urban/rural catchment, (b) to show the advantages of a sub-catchment based approach to flood modelling, and (c) to assess how the system of flood storages had affected catchment-wide response.

Working with the Environment Agency Thames Region, runoff has been monitored at up to 15 sites within the 52 km<sup>2</sup> catchment of the Cut at Binfield for a period of four years. Figure 11 shows land use in the catchment, with the urban area — as defined by the *Flood Studies Report* (FSR) — amounting to 29% of the total. This includes the new town of Bracknell, with 18 major storage ponds and lakes.

Runoff monitoring made extensive use of 'sewer survey' loggers, based on pressure transducers to measure depth and Doppler sensors for velocity. The data

Understanding and modelling hydrological processes are essential for estimating the spatial and temporal distribution of freshwater resources. A wide range of innovative commissioned studies has been carried out throughout the world, including resource assessment at the continental, country and basin scale, hydropower design, babitat assessment and estimating river flow distributions at the European scale. In response to resource and environmental pressures on permeable systems, new initiatives have focused on understanding both water quality and quantity pathways between ground and surface water systems.

### Freshwater resources

#### ESTIMATING WATER AVAILABILITY FOR SMALL-SCALE HYDROPOWER PRODUCTION

A key aspect of the design of a small-scale hydropower scheme is to determine the hydrological conditions at the proposed site. Many potential sites are in remote areas, where flow measurements - upon which an assessment could be made - are limited or unavailable. The Institute of Hydrology has recently developed a PC-based package, which allows not only the hydrological characteristics but also the hydropower potential to be determined at any site. The package. HydrA, is the result of a three-year research project funded by the European Small

Hydropower Association (ESHA) through the Altener programme of the European Union (DGXVII).

The software builds on existing techniques for assessing hydrological regimes that have been developed by the Institute of Hydrology over many years. The techniques focus on the estimation of flow from catchment characteristics at ungauged locations and have previously been applied to the IH Micro LOW FLOWS software, a tool used extensively within the UK water industry for catchment management and water resource planning purposes. Through the development of HydrA, the techniques have been applied to other parts of Europe. The software has already been completed in Spain, Italy and the

New PC-based software to assess hydropower potential at any site

UK and is presently being developed specifically for Austria, Belgium, Portugal and the Republic of Ireland.

HydrA is presented as a menudriven software package and incorporates regional flow estimation models and databases of climate and hydrogeological response characteristics, plus algorithms for calculating the generating capacities of turbines and annual power output for the site. The regional models are developed for each country based on available hydrometric, meteorological and physiographic data supplied by partner organisations in the representative countries. Statistical analysis of the data is used to identify models for estimating mean flow, low flow statistics and pooled flow-duration curves in each country.

The value of the method has been recognised for application in other parts of the world. The Department For International Development (DFID) is presently funding the Institute in a three-year research project to develop the software for two Himalayan regions in India and Nepal. The



Figure 14. Irrigation releases from Tarbela Reservoir

work is being carried out in collaboration with the Alternate Hydro Energy Centre in Roorkee, India, the International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD) and the Department of Hydrology and Meteorology in Nepal. The development of regional low flow models in the Himalayan region poses a significant challenge because of the extreme relief and the seasonal effects of the monsoon,

Contact: Gwyn Rees

#### MAINTAINING HYDROPOWER PRODUCTION AT TARBELA RESERVOIR, PAKISTAN

Tarbela Dam in Pakistan harnesses the waters of the Indus to provide about half of the country's irrigation needs, and one third of its electricity. However, the lifespan of the reservoir is threatened by sedimentation and, since impoundment in 1974, the reservoir has lost over 20% of its gross capacity. Further, with each year's flood inflow, the sediment delta continues to approach the intakes to the power tunnels. threatening to cut off this huge source of energy to the country. IH has been working with TAMS Consultants Inc., New York, and with HR Wallingford to identify options for extending the life of this vital facility well into the next century.

IH provided long-term inflow series to a reservoir sedimentation simulation model operated by HR Wallingford. We then ran a system simulation model to predict the future irrigation and energy benefits which would be derived from the reservoir under either a

range of revised operating strategies or various proposed engineering solutions. These included construction of low-level sediment sluices and/or an underwater dyke to keep sediment from entering the power tunnels.

Although the optimum solution involved very major and costly engineering works, the alternative would involve Pakistan in having to construct a large number of thermal power stations to compensate for the energy lost through failure of Tarbela. The environmental costs of this, through the burning of fossil fuels and resulting contributions to global warming, strengthened the planned adoption of the proposed engineering solutions which were both cost-effective, and environmentally sound.

Contact: Frank Farquharson

#### SIMPLE, ROBUST INTEGRATED HYDROCHEMICAL CATCHMENT MODELS FOR USE IN WATER PLANNING

The large amount of information now available on the factors controlling streamflow volume, timing and hydrochemical characteristics of rivers in the UK and Hungary has led to a collaborative project involving IH, Vituki, Hungary and the University of Utrecht, Netherlands, to develop simple but robust models of catchment behaviour that can be used to predict hydrological and water quality changes in a time of predicted climate change. The project, funded by the EC as part of the Environment and Climate Programme, uses the hydrological modelling expertise of IH and the

University of Utrecht to set up a semi-distributed monthly streamflow model based on Utrecht's PC Raster GIS software, behind which operate streamflow generation routines synthesised from myriad process studies carried out in experimental basins across Europe.

Processes involved in the transfer of nutrients to water courses have been studied in depth over many years in the Zala target catchment feeding to Lake Balaton in Hungary, a catchment with a history of water quality problems linked to the heavy use of fertilisers and poor runoff control.

The River Severn catchment to Shrewsbury in UK is also under scrutiny as an example of a relatively pristine environment, which should test the range of applicability of the models developed in the light of the good hydrometric and chemical calibration data available. The advent of GIS systems, especially PC Raster which has been developed specifically as a hydrological modelling tool, has enabled further development of an existing water quality delivery and routing model SENSMOD (written by the Hungarian partners) to operate within a GIS framework. The GIS covers spatially-distributed data on hydrological variables, land use, fertiliser inputs, soil

New model indicates climate change impacts may affect the hydrological regime of the River Severn catchment





nutrient status and soil type, drainage direction and channel networks, and reservoir distribution (supply, amenity and flood control).

Early indications are that climate change may alter the hydrology of the River Severn, with increased rainfall offsetting the higher evaporation rates expected from a higher temperature regime. Extra resources may of course be utilised by increased domestic and industrial demand, by increased irrigation requirements in the lowland portion of the catchment during expected drier summers and with changes in the pattern of crops, and by statutory increases in compensation flows from the main reservoirs, Clywedog and Vyrnwy, for ecological reasons. In Hungary there is expected to be an increase in the incidence of drought, which will provide lower compensation flows from the existing reservoir system and the demand to build new reservoirs to compensate. A reservoir management module is being included in the hydrological model of the Zala to take this into account.

Contact: Jim Hudson

#### ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT OF HYDROPOWER GENERATION

Electricity is such a fundamental requirement that it is difficult to imagine life without it. For developing countries it is a prerequisite for economic growth. Hydro-electric power is often thought to be environmentally benign. However, the construction and operation of many hydropower dams have had significant negative impacts on the environment and rural economies. Reduced downstream flooding has destroyed fisheries and starved the floodplain soils of moisture and nutrients. Often the areas worst affected have no electrification and thus local communities lose vital natural resources yet do not benefit from power generation, as witnessed in the Senegal valley.



Figure 16. Water being released from Roseires Dam, Sudan

The Institute has provided advice to IUCN (the World Conservation Union) on environmental impacts of large hydro-schemes in Africa and the potential for making artificial flood releases from dams to restore and conserve downstream wetland ecosystems. This integrated approach allows a compromise to be reached between electricity generation and maintenance of a dynamic flooding pattern for the short term economic importance of fisheries and agriculture and the longer term importance of soil fertility and biodiversity. Involvement of local communities representatives in deciding when flood waters should be released, as on the Phongolo River in South Africa. has resulted in great benefits to floodplain users. IH has also been involved in the design of new dams on the Tana River in Kenya. These dams are being specifically designed to make flood releases.

Contact: Mike Acreman

Assessing the environmental downside of hydro-electricity schemes Pollution from diffuse or non-point sources is a major unknown in catchment systems, both in terms of quantification of pollutant loads and in identification of pathways. A thorough understanding of pollutant sources, transport and fate is essential to the management of water resources and underpins the development of catchment scale water quality models which provide the tools for management. Process-based models also enable assessment of future scenarios describing changes in pollutant input, land management or other external drivers. The use of models in agreeing international scale reductions in acidic emissions is a prime example.

Pollution

#### PHOSPHORUS DYNAMICS IN THE RIVER KENNET

Eutrophication (nutrient enrichment resulting in excessive plant growth) is a growing problem in UK lowland rivers. during the summer, often as a result of changes in the balance. between sewage inputs and river flow. Phosphorus is frequently the limiting nutrient for summer phytoplankton growth in freshwater, and sewage effluent is a major source of phosphate in many lowland rivers. In the south of England, low river flow conditions in recent summers have reduced the dilution of effluent discharges and increased

phosphate concentrations. This has, in part, prompted a concerted effort to reduce phosphorus discharge from sewage works. The Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive (Council of European Communities, 1991) dictates that phosphorus discharges from sewage treatment works, serving populations of more than 10 000 and discharging into sensitive (eutrophic) waters, must be reduced unless it can be shown that the reduction will have no effect on eutrophication

The River Kennet, a tributary of the River Thames, is a chalk stream subject to phosphorus-rich discharges in its upper reaches below the town of Marlborough. At Detailed monitoring confirms the river water quality improvement through phosphorus removal from sewage effluent



Figure 17. Ratio of total phosphorus to boron concentrations in the River Kennet at three sites downstream of the Marlborough sewage treatment works for weekly samples collected between 3 June 1997 and 22 April 1998

the end of August 1997, Thames Water plc installed equipment to remove phosphorus from the effluent discharged from the Marlborough sewage treatment plant. Before this (in June 1997) IH began a water sampling programme, in collaboration with the University of Reading, to facilitate examination of the 'before and after' effects of phosphorus removal. Ratios of total phosphorus (TP) to boron (B) in the River Kennet have been used to examine the response to changes in point-source phosphorus inputs. 'Total phosphorus' includes both the dissolved and exchangeable phosphorus attached to the surface of suspended sediments. Boron in river water exists primarily in a chemically unreactive form (borate), derived from sewage effluents, which are enriched with boron as a result of soluble boroncontaining minerals used in detergents and washing powders. Within the Kennet, very low background concentrations of boron in groundwater make this a chemically conservative tracer for sewage effluent.

During the summer of 1997, the general decrease in the TP/B ratio downstream from the sewage works (Figure 17) indicates loss of phosphorus as a result of uptake by aquatic plants or sediments. In September there followed a dramatic reduction in the TP/B ratio at all sites, showing the effectiveness of the phosphorus removal from sewage effluent at Marlborough sewage treatment. During this time, total phosphorus concentrations declined from approximately 750 mg 1-1 P to around 250 mg 1<sup>-1</sup>P at Glebe House, approximately 1 km downstream of the sewage works. In December, the TP/B ratio increased again and all sites exhibited a similar TP/B ratio. This corresponds with a marked increase in river flow and suggests a diffuse source of phosphorus.

Contact: Helen Jarvie

#### IMPACT OF PESTICIDES ON RIVER ECOLOGY IN HEADWATER STREAMS

Previous work with ADAS has shown that water draining agricultural land can contain pesticides in sufficiently high concentrations to kill off some aquatic organisms. The Institute is collaborating with the Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science (CEFAS) in a project funded by MAFF, the Environment Agency and the Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions to see whether there is a causal link between the routine use of agricultural pesticides and damage to the ecology of headwater streams. Headwaters are of particular interest, because the flora and fauna they support are likely to be exposed to the highest

#### POLLUTION

pesticide concentrations in runoff and they represent a large percentage of the habitat available to aquatic organisms.

Streams draining two cereal farms, a fruit farm and a sheep dipping area, on essentially surface runoff dominated soil types, have been chosen to represent a range of agricultural activities. The aim is to collect samples that represent the chemical composition of the water in the headwater streams during high flows and to carry out in situ and laboratory bioassays to determine if the event has caused damage to the indigenous or test animals.

Because the streams being studied respond quickly to rainfall the sampling of the river water is carried out using automatic samplers (see Figure 18). These are triggered by a rise in river level and continue to collect samples on a pre-determined frequency until the river level falls back to normal. The precise time of each sample is recorded on a data-logger together with the rainfall, river level and dissolved oxygen concentration of the stream water. Each of the loggers can be interrogated remotely using mobile telephone links to check the current status of the river flow and the sampling programme without the necessity of a field visit. During the first 18 months of the study 18 pesticides have been analysed in some 29 events. Figure 18 shows concentrations for a selection of these pesticides, together with the stream height, in one of the streams for a sequence of events during May.

So far, no toxicity attributable to pesticides has been detected in any of the event water samples or in the stream bioassays. Samples of indigenous stream fauna are



Figure 18. Concentrations of pesticides in the stream draining the Dollymans Farm site following rainfall events on the 6.5.97 - 16.5.97

currently being analysed. Monitoring and testing will continue until June 1999 with increasing emphasis on agricultural insecticides.

Contact: Richard Williams

#### MODELLING SURFACE WATER ACIDIFICATION AT THE UK SCALE

In support of international negotiations to control emissions of anthropogenic sulphur (S) and nitrogen (N) to the atmosphere, dynamic models have been applied to a range of headwater catchments. These model applications provide estimates of the time lag between achievement of agreed emission reductions and recovery of surface water chemistry. To date, however, such modelling assessments have been limited to case studies in sensitive areas by data availability and the lack of a consistent methodology for more wide-scale application.

As part of the EU-funded DYNAMO project, techniques have now been developed to calibrate Modelling the impact of agreed emission reductions on the recovery of acidified streams



Figure 19. MAGIC-modelled Acid Neutralising Capacity (ANC), 1997



Figure 20. Decreases in Acid Neutralising Capacity (ANC) from 1850 to 1997 (left), and projected recovery from 1997 to 2050 (right)

the MAGIC model for nearly 700 sites across the UK, using spatially consistent databases describing water chemistry, soil physical and chemical properties, rainfall, runoff and deposition chemistry. Present day Acid Neutralising Capacity (ANC) at these sites is shown in Figure 19. Marked regional variations are evident, with the most acidic conditions in areas of the Pennines, North York Moors, Lake District and Galloway.

For each site, the model has been used to reconstruct water chemistry in 1850 (before the onset of industrialisation) and to predict future changes in response to currently agreed reductions in S emission under the Second S Protocol. Decreases in ANC from 1850 to the present day, and projected recovery to 2050, are shown in Figure 20. ANC decline has been greatest in areas of England and Southern Scotland, that have been subject to high levels of acid deposition, and least in unpolluted areas such as northwest Scotland. The most acidified sites historically are forecast also to show the largest future recovery, but in general this ANC increase is predicted to counteract only a small proportion (around 25%) of the historic decline. Many sites may therefore remain acidified (ANC < 0) in the future under current emission scenarios.

Work is continuing to develop the model to incorporate N dynamics to assess the potential response to changes in the input of total acidity (nitrogen and sulphur) in support of new international agreements.

Contact: Chris Evans

The severe widespread flooding in the UK and overseas resulting in huge financial costs and loss of life has highlighted the importance of the accurate prediction, estimation and forecasting of extreme events. The Institute will complete the Flood Estimation Handbook in 1999. Based on an analysis of all flood peak data, it provides new and innovative design methods for flood estimation throughout the UK. IH research is extending risk analysis to include the evaluation of the spatial dependence of extreme events and the impact of natural hazards on ecological systems in cooperation with IFE and ITE.

## Environment risks and extreme events

#### HYREX: HYDROLOGICAL RADAR EXPERIMENT

This was one of our parent Natural Environment Research Council's Special Topics, which run from May 1993 to April 1997. The broad aim of HYREX was to gain a better understanding of rainfall variability, as sensed by weather radar, and how this variability impacts on river flow at the catchment scale. Six projects were funded, involving groups from the Institute of Hydrology, the Rutherford Appleton Laboratory and the universities of London (Imperial College and University College), Newcastle, Reading (including the Joint Centre for Mesoscale Meteorology or JCMM) and Salford. The projects ranged from research on improved precipitation measurement, using polarisation and vertical pointing radars, through network design of radar/raingauge\_networks and spatial-temporal modelling of rainfall fields, to rainfall forecasting based on stochastic and meteorological concepts

The experiment was centred on the Brue catchment in south-west England, with a river gauging station at Lovington measuring flows draining from an area of 132 km². The common experimental infrastructure comprised two national network C-band radars at Wardon Hill (Doppler) and Cobbacombe Cross, a purpose-built dense raingauge network, an automatic weather station, an automatic soil water station and the river gauging station. These instruments have provided a continuous record throughout HYREX and data collection is still continuing.

Further instrumentation, deployed on an occasional basis, was scheduled to coincide with a number of one or two-day Intense Observing Periods, triggered by meteorologically interesting conditions, during which HYREX aims to provide a better understanding of rainfall variability, as sensed by weather radar, and how this variability impacts on river flow at the catchment scale.

#### EXTREME EVENTS

radiosonde ascents and aircraft overflights were made, and for which special runs of the Unified Model were made. These instruments included an experimental S-band Doppler dual polarisation radar at Chilbolton and an associated line network of rapid-response raingauges (operated by Rutherford Appleton Laboratory), a transportable vertically pointing X-band radar (operated by the University of Salford), the UK Meteorological Office (UKMO) Research Flight and radiosonde network, and a disdrometer (operated by the Institute of Hydrology). The JCMM provided output from special runs of the UKMO Unified Model (UM).

The dense raingauge network comprises 49 tipping bucket raingauges, with at least one raingauge in each of the 2 km radar grid squares that lie entirely within the catchment. In addition, there are two parallel lines of greater gauge density extending SW to NE across the catchment,



Figure 21. Relief map of the Brue catchment showing the dense raingauge network

aligned with the prevailing wind direction and running from lowland to upland. Within each line there is one 2 km grid square containing a super-dense subnetwork of eight raingauges arranged in a square-within-adiamond configuration: one subnetwork is in a lowland area and the other in an upland area.

The Institute was responsible for the quality control of the dense raingauge network as part of its project concerned with the accuracy of radar/raingauge networks. This project investigated the variability of rainfall as it varies with intensity over the spatial scales of the radar data  $(2 \times 2 \text{ km})$ and the catchment (132 km<sup>2</sup>). For the 2 km case accuracy was shown to be related to the accuracy of the areal rainfall estimates themselves. For the higher rainfall situations, variability of around 20 % and 50 % at the 2 km and catchment. scales respectively was found. Consideration of radar recalibration by raingauges explored how the use of a single gauge, typically available operationally for a catchment the size of the Brue, affected the accuracy of rainfall estimation. A dynamic raingauge calibration was shown to be only effective over a relatively short distance whereas a long-term climatological correction proves more useful at greater distances. A tapered calibration factor method was developed that behaves as well as the dynamic calibration at close distances and takes the form of the climatological correction at larger distances.

A second project at IH under HYREX investigated a simple twodimensional rainfall model, based on advection and conservation of mass in a vertical cloud column, for use in short-term rainfall and flood forecasting at the catchment

#### EXTREMÉ EVENTS

scale during convective storms. The model is capable of assimilating weather radar, satellite infra red and surface weather observations, to obtain frequently updated forecasts of rainfall fields. The results obtained from two convective events over southern Britain show that (i) a simple advection-type forecast may be improved upon by using multiscan radar data in place of data from the lowest scan, and (ii) advected, steady state predictions from the dynamic model, using 'inferred' updraughts, provides the best performance overall

More details on HYREX, including access to the dataset, are available at the NERC British Atmospheric Data Centre web site at http:/ www.badc.rl.ac.uk/data/byrex.

> Contact: Bob Moore and Vicky Bell

#### DIGITAL DATA AND THE FLOOD ESTIMATION HANDBOOK — AN EXAMPLE

The Flood Estimation Handbook (FEH) research programme includes a new statistical method for estimating river flow peaks. The index flood is the median annual flood, QMED, estimated for ungauged catchments by a regression equation based on catchment descriptors.

Although Figure 22 for south-west England looks like a map of watercourses, it is not derived from the stream network. What it actually shows is the drainage paths derived from the IH digital terrain model (IHDTM) for all points draining an area of at least 0.5 km<sup>2</sup>. At each point on a drainage path, the boundary of the



Figure 22 Mean annual flood, QMED, along flow paths

catchment draining to that point is calculated. QMED is then estimated from the charactenstics of the particular catchment and a map is built up point by point. The plotted drainage path width is proportional to the square root of QMED.

Although the drainage paths appear to increase with catchment size, in fact the map of QMED reflects the influence of soil type, rainfall and flood storage as well as catchment size. The map is derived using a model with five variables. AREA (catchment size). SPRHOST (standard percentage runoff estimated from the HOST soil classification), BFIHOST (baseflow index), SAAR (average annual rainfall) and FARL (an index of flood attenuation due to reservoirs and lakes). All these variables are calculated automatically from digital data with no need to derive them manually, from maps.

Contact Duncan Faulkner

Preview of new method for estimating river flow peaks — from the soon-to-be-published Floods Estimation Handbook Combining a rainfallrunoff model with a snowmelt module has produced an important additional tool for flood forecasting

#### NEW ELEVATION-DEPENDENT SNOWMELT MODEL FOR FLOOD FORECASTING

An elevation-dependent snowmelt model has been developed for use in upland Britain for flood forecasting and warning. Here, the dynamic nature of snow cover, and the occurrence of heavy rain along with melt, can exert a considerable influence on major floods. The model comprises the PACK snowmelt model linked to a lumped conceptual rainfall-runoff model, the PDM (Probability Distributed Moisture) model. The PACK snowmelt module conceptualises the lying snow as being made up of dry snow that has yet to melt and wet snow which has melted but is still held in the snow pack. When the temperature is above the melt threshold the dry snow melts at a rate proportional to the temperature excess above the threshold and contributes to the wet snow store. Water is released from the wet snow store at a rate dependent on the proportion of the pack that is melted snow, and is transformed into flow at the basin outlet by the PDM module.



Figure 23. Using a snow corer in the Balquhidder catchment in Scotland

The variation in temperature with elevation in a catchment and its effect on melt can be dealt with by partitioning the catchment into a finite number of elevation zones. Model performance is generally improved through the use of more zones. This result prompted the development of a new formulation that can use either a nearcontinuous distribution or a finite number of elevation zones derived from a digital terrain model. The new formulation allows the evolution of the snowline over time to be determined along with the water equivalent of the pack and the discharge at the basin outlet

The new model has been tested on two upland catchments, Monachyle Burn in Scotland (11.4 km2) and Trout Beck in Northern England (7.7 km<sup>2</sup>). Excellent simulations of flow are obtained for both catchments with  $R^2$  values of circa 0.9. A sensitivity study of the accuracy of flow simulations to the number of elevation zones employed suggests using a 30 m elevation range for a zone as a conservative choice. Observations of the position of the snowline in the Monachyle compare very well with model predictions ( $R^2$  values of 0.74 and 0.66 for two snowmelt periods). An assessment was also made of the use of daily snow survey and hourly snow pillow measurements for updating the Trout Beck model. The results suggest that the pillow data, if used with care, can provide as good if not better flow predictions. However, there is a tendency for snow to melt preferentially from the pillow compared to the surrounding vegetation.

> Contact: Vicky Bell and Bob Moore

Predicting future change in climate and its impacts on the environment is one of the most important and demanding tasks facing science. The Arctic environment is both vulnerable to global climate change and critical in defining the feedbacks which may amplify or dampen the changes resulting from anthropogenic gas emissions. The most serious impacts of global climate change will not be from different average conditions but from changes in the frequency and size of extreme events — current predictions warn of increases in the return periods of damaging floods.

Global change

#### **ARCTIC HYDROLOGY**

The Arctic has been identified as the region that might experience the greatest increase in surface temperature through global warming: this would have important repercussions for hydrology. Although the Arctic is covered in snow for most of the year, it has low annual precipitation, similar to the East Anglian region of the UK. Streamflow mostly occurs over predominantly frozen ground during the snowmelt period. Whether the Arctic becomes warmer and wetter, or warmer and drier, will not only affect the hydrological balance, but - through the unfreezing of the soil — it may also release extra carbon dioxide and methane into the atmosphere. This would increase concentrations of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere and accelerate global warming.

The Land Arctic Physical Processes (LAPP) project is a multi-national experiment, led by the Institute and partially funded by the European Commission. Through a programme of measurements and modelling exercises, LAPP is investigating the physical processes that control the interaction of water, carbon dioxide and methane between the Arctic land surface and the atmosphere

The Arctic region has a pronounced latitudinal gradient of temperature, precipitation, vegetation cover and permanently frozen ground. To address this variability, similar measurement programmes are being carried out at Ny-Ålesund, Svalbard (79°N), Zackenberg, Greenland (74°N) and Kevo and Kaamanen, Finland (69°N). Sensible heat, evaporation and carbon dioxide fluxes are being measured at each of these Investigating the physical processes controlling the interaction of water, carbon dioxide and methane between the land and the atmosphere



Figure 24. The cumulative energy fluxes at the Kevo mire site during the early summer of 1997

sites, using the eddy correlation method, for the important period from snowmelt through the arctic summer and into the freeze-up in the autumn. Eddy correlation and static chamber measurements of methane have also been taken at the principal sites.

Cumulative energy fluxes of net radiation, evaporation and sensible heat from the IH field site at Kevo are low while snow is still present (Figure 24). The residual term is the energy being used to melt the snowpack. This radiational energy is supplemented by some energy being taken out of the surface atmospheric layer. Once the snow has disappeared, the residual energy continues to increase as energy goes into unfreezing the soil. The residual term stops increasing at the end of June, and during July all the incoming radiant energy is used for evaporation and sensible heat flux.

The site at Kevo (Figure 25) is an elevated mire which consists of raised hummocks and sunken pools created by the action of permafrost. The hummocks are predominantly covered with dwarf birch and berry plants while the pools are filled with sphagnum moss and sedge grasses. Important controls on the evaporation and carbon balance of these different surfaces are their surface temperature and the level of the water in the mire. Figure 26 shows the variation in surface temperature of a hummock and a pool and the air temperature at 3 m. Large differences in the surface temperatures occur during periods of low windspeed. The surface temperature and mire water level will be important variables in predicting the effects of climate change. The major goals are to identify and model the relationships between these and other surface variables in both



Figure 25. The mire site at Kevo showing infrared surface temperature instruments in the foreground with evaporation, sensible heat and carbon dioxide flux measurement systems behind

#### GLOBAL PROCESSES

hummocks and pools and the evaporation and carbon balance of the mire as a whole.

A second site was set up on a hillslope at Kevo during 1998. Measurements are being made there of runoff from a small catchment and evaporation from the slope: the latter uses the new flux measurement system, based on a three-dimensional anemometer, that was featured in last year's report (page 35). These observations will be used to investigate the hydrological response of a hillslope with frozen soil. Ultimately this description will be included in large-scale simulations of the water balance and river response in high latitude regions.

Measurements from Kevo are also being used to test and improve the current Soil-Vegetation-Atmosphere Transfer (SVAT) scheme used by the UK Meteorological Office in their Global Climate Model. This Meteorological Office Surface Exchange Scheme (MOSES) provides a mathematical description of the interface between the land surface and the atmospheric circulation.

This work has demonstrated that the Arctic is a delicately balanced ecosystem with an inter-annual variability, whereby some areas can switch between being a source or a sink of carbon dioxide, and that the particular hydrology of the area is a major factor in this process. At the Ny-Ålesund site in Svalbard, the timing of the disappearance of the snowpack and the length of the arctic summer, together with changes in the amount and frequency of rainstorms during the summer, have a profound effect upon the growth rates (and hence carbon uptake) of the vegetation and the



Figure 26. The air temperature and surface temperatures of adjacent hummock and pool at the Kevo mire site during an eight-day period in early June 1997

soil respiration. Although annual carbon switching has not been seen at the other sites, changes from sources to sinks do occur during the summer period in response to hydrological processes: annual carbon budgets are therefore highly variable.

Contact: Colin Lloyd

#### IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON RIVER FLOODING IN THE UK

There have been many studies of the potential impacts on water resources and flow regimes of future climate change due to global warming. Most of these studies have concentrated on the changes in average flows: relatively few have looked at the impacts on the extreme ends of the flow regime. A semi-distributed rainfall-runoff model has been used here to simulate flow duration and flood frequency curves for the Severn catchment for the 2050s.



Figure 27. Flow duration and flood frequency curves for the Severn catchment under the three methods for applying the rainfall scenario



Figure 28. Disastrous flooding in Evesham on Good Friday, 1998 (Photo: © Journal & Admag Series, Evesham)

The model is based on a 40-km grid and has three components: a soil water balance model, a drainage model and a basin-wide routing model. The potential impacts of climate change were simulated by altering the driving climate variables and re-running the model for a 30-year period, representative of the middle of the next century. The climate change scenarios were constructed using the output from the most recent Hadley Centre general circulation model experiments (HadCM2).

The scenarios of change in average monthly rainfall for the 2050s have been applied in several ways. First, the monthly rainfall was perturbed by changing the rainfall on each wet day by the same percentage. The second approach was to alter the number of rain days in each month, increasing their number during the winter and decreasing it during the summer. The final method is to change only those rain days with rainfall above a certain threshold, thereby enhancing the storm profiles.

The curves in Figure 27 show that both the magnitude and frequency of flooding events in the Severn increase in the 2050s. The red line represents the current situation; the green line shows the response to a change in the mean monthly rainfall. The alternative rainfall scenarios cause the curves to shift upwards, but altering the number of days has less impact than either applying proportional changes or enhancing the storms. The impact of these scenarios is that the current 50-year flood, measuring about 650 m3s-1, could increase to nearly  $800 \text{ m}^3 \text{s}^{-1}$  by the middle of the next century, and the 650  $m^3 s^4$  flow will no longer be exceeded, on average, once every 50 years, but every 10.

Contact: Nick Reynard

There is no diminution in the pace of IT developments: these can assist our scientific aims and our ability to make the outcomes available to interested bodies or the lay public. The first electronic Hydrological Yearbook UK (for 1996) available on the World Wide Web is at http://www.nwl.ac.uk/~nrfadata /yearbook/web/yb96/yearbook96.htm— this has made possible a larger set of processed data than could be achieved by hard copy production. The most frequently searched of the Institute's many web pages (for which the "hit" rate is 25 000 per month in total) is Waterwatch, a shortened version of our subscription bulletin, the Monthly Hydrological Summary for Great Britain, which can be found at http://www.nwl.ac.uk/ib/www/ research/bdroughtwatch.html.

# Integrating generic science

#### INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY ACTIVITIES

The articles below show that our research into efficient, accurate and powerful spatial dataset viewing has led us into pioneering work with oceanographic colleagues within NERC to create common fields of search across inland, intertidal and coastal areas. We have been assisted by European consortia members to create for the European Environment Agency its first vector dataset of the continent's rivers. And we have laid the groundwork for a new era in lowland catchment experimentation by the

continuous high resolution calibrated monitoring of the quality of a cluster of chalk streams in Berkshire. The success of the LOIS thematic programme of science showed the wisdom of the NERC Data Policy document in calling for each programme of that type to have a Data Plan. Such plans ensure that all involved with multiconsortia research have equal access to new data (after a limited time for the first author to publish their findings) and that added value from the quality-controlled data is achieved by archiving it in a catalogued form for successive researchers. A consequence for our data management research team is that it has sought generic data models and common data

dictionaries so that it can economically provide a range of Thematic Programmes with an effective Data Centre. This has been done with Environmental Diagnostics, and has included a distributed data centre approach with the involvement of the Environmental Change Research Centre at University College London. We also assisted the British Geological Survey with a Data Scoping Study for the URGENT programme, and secured (with Science Systems Ltd) British National Space Centre funds for innovative handling of satellite imagery of rivers

The Library, which will have the necessary space for justified expansion as a consequence of the building contract commencing on the Wallingford site in autumn 1998, has implemented and loaded the UNICORN holdings management software, which is common to the whole of CEH. This is improving the pace at which scientific literature of importance to hydrology can be registered and located.

The Institute has taken advantage of the rapid strides made by the British library project "Internet Library of Early Journals" http:// www.bodley.ox.ac.uk/ilej/ ---because of the environmental history data that it contains. A range of key 18th and 19th century series, including the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, can now be searched rigorously by a few keystrokes — once the user is familiar with the subject being sought! An example of the strength of this approach can be seen in the assistance given by the Institute to the British Hydrological Society in order that it could launch a longterm project to create a chronology of hydrological events for Britain.

This went live on the Internet at the BHS International Conference on *Hydrology in a Changing*. *Environment*, held at Exeter University in July 1998. Current progress can be seen at http:// www.dundee.ac.uk/geography/ cbhe/. Its relevance has been highlighted by the increased interest in forming.local flood chronologies since the severe Easter 1998 floods in the Midlands, but its science potential for the coming generation goes far wider than.that.

Contact Frank Law

#### EUROPEAN RIVERS AND CATCHMENTS (ERICA)

For hundreds of years hydrology has relied on high-quality time. series datasets with which to test hypotheses and to help manage resources. As time has passed, many of these datasets have been transferred to an electronic medium and, more and more, modern capture is done directly to disk. This allows us to utilise everincreasing computational power fully. But how useful is this if we cannot describe digitally the spatial relationships between these data and the environment from which they were captured?

In Britain, we have a highresolution digital database of rivers and a hydrologically appropriate digital terrain model. At a European scale, each state has similar holdings, but there is no standardised and integrated dataset of rivers, lakes and catchment boundaries. This is a problem for a body such as the European Environment Agency (EEA), but one which they have solved by commissioning IH to provide a

#### INTEGRATING GENERIC SCIENCE

"Low-resolution catchment geographic database". This comprises rivers, canals, lakes, coastline and international borders that extend across to the Ural Mountains, plus the 1000 largest catchments in the 15 EU member states, all at 1:1M scale.

The respected cartographers Bartholomews supplied the base data, which were subjected to exhaustive quality control and enhancement procedures. To aid navigation and analysis, all rivers have consistent direction, i.e. they are stored in point order from downstream to upstream, and are node matched. Paths through lakes ensure total connectivity from any river's source to its exit into the sea or ocean. River names in the local language and English have been added to over 32 000 stretches. All lakes and lake islands are complete polygons, which allows both calculation of total lake areas and enhanced mapping using colour infill. The catchment boundaries have been automatically identified and derived using an IH-devised method (Sekulin, Bullock and Gustard, 1992).

All of the datasets are mutually compatible: rivers reach, and stop, at the coast whilst having nodes at all river and river/lake intersections. The coast has nodes at river/coast intersections. And, where rivers form international boundaries, the boundary is identical to the path of the river. Over 1500 catchments were eventually included to give as wide a coverage as possible.

Input from the European Topic Centre for Inland Waters ensured that ERICA-1M complies with the needs of the EEA, They concluded that ERICA-1M is "a great advance



Figure 29. A sample of ERICA-1M displayed at 1:2M scale

in terms of the provision of a tool for assessment and visualisation". Its potential for use is obviously wide and the EEA has been approached by a number of research groups. Permission has been granted for its use on the ARIDE project — Assessment of the Regional Impact of Drought in Europe — and this is expected to be the first of many.

In parallel to the low resolution study, the University of Freiburg and the National Environmental Research Institute of Denmark completed a pilot study at 1:250K. This concentrated on the Meuse in France and Belgium and the Miño in Spain and Portugal. Findings from this will help the EEA formulate plans to achieve the long-term goal of a pan-European medium resolution catchment geographic database.

Contact: Rob Flavin

APPENDIX I

NERC structure



34 INSTITUTE OF HYDROLOGY SCIENTIFIC REPORT 1997-98



Thematic science management GJL Leeks

> Oliver Swain Felicity Sanderson Jackie Carr

*Celia Kirby* (Communications) John Griffin Rob Flavin

*Sue Wharton* (Library) Pam Moorhouse

Chris Bottrell (Computing support)

Penny Kisby (IAHS Press) Frances Watkins

Henry Gunston (DFID coordinator & IH Training Officer)

*Neil Runnalls* (Marketing & Business Development Manager)

#### Information & Scientific Services

#### Science remit

To provide the technology to ensure the Institute's science thrives and reaches its intended audience and users in the most appropriate format

#### Frank Law (Deputy Director & Division Head) Sandie Butterfield (*Secretary*)

Roger Moore (Data & software

systems)

*Kevin Black – Software development* Richard Alexander Lawrence Beran

*Isabella Tindall – Software operations* Jeff Parker Susan Renn

*Martin Lees* (National Water Archive) Terry Marsh Dave Morris Samantha Green

#### Water Quality

#### Science remit

To understand the processes that control surface water quality and, by their representation within computer models, provide tools for improving water quality through environmental management Alan Jenkins (Division Head) Sue Beresford (Secretary)

David Boorman (Catchment water

quality modelling) David M Cooper Andrew Eatherall Rob Collins Beate Gannon Chris Evans Andrea Marshall

Richard Williams (Hydro-chemical processes) Colin Neal Andrew Johnson Atul Haria Helen Jarvie Craig White

Pam Naden (Sediment interactions) Ian Littlewood Carol Watts

**Risks & Resources** 

#### Science remit

To provide advanced techniques for flood and low flow estimation, for forecasting extreme events, and for assessing the availability of water resources Alan Gustard (Division Head) Sandra Smith (Secretary)

Mike Acreman (Low flow, ecology & wetlands) Gwyn Rees Andy Young Ann Sekulin Gwyneth Cole Karen Croker David Hill Mike Dunbar Matt Holmes Conor Linstead fan Gowing

Duncan Reed (Flood, rainfall & climate analysis) David Marshall Nick Reynard Alice Robson Lisa Stewart Adrian Bayliss Duncan Faulkner Christel Prudhomine Dorte Jakob Margaret Neal (Analytical chemistry) Lal Bhardwaj James Dodd Martin Harrow Linda Hill Heather Wickham

*Jim Hudson* (Experimental catchments) Phil Hill Sue Hill Alun Hughes

*Graham Leeks* (Thematic science management) Howard Oliver Ian Dwyer Stephen Marks

Bob Moore (Hydrological systems modelling) David Jones Vicky Bell Enrico Frank

Ann Calter (Surface groundwater systems) Dick Bradford Sue Crooks Rob Lamb Helen Davies Jana Crewett

*Frank Farqubarson* (Water resources) John Packman Kevin Sene Helen Houghton-Carr Matthew McCartney Val Bronsdon Ned Hewitt Emma Tate

#### John Gash (Division Head) Biddy Hawker (Secretary)

Charles Batchelor (Water management and policy studies) Caroline Sullivan Jeremy Cain

Richard Harding (Global processes) Alistair Culf Chris Huntingford Colin Lloyd Chris Taylor Douglas Clark Anne Verhoef

#### Mark Robinson (Landscape interactions) Robin Hall David Biggin Eleanor Blyth Ken Blyth Jon Finch Eleanor Burke

#### John Roberts (Transport mechanisms and water utilisation) John Bromley Chris Lovell Ragab Ragab Martin Hodnett Mark Smith Nick Jackson Paul Rosier

J David Cooper (Instruments) Andy Dixon Dave McNeil Sam Boyle Jonathan Evans Roger Wyatt Mike Stroud Geoff Wicks

Alan Warwick (Workshop) Geoff Walley John White

#### Bio-physical Processes

#### Science remit

To improve quantitative understanding of the physical and biological processes in the terrestrial hydrological cycle, from local to global scales, including interaction with human activities

#### Stuart Pryde

(Head of Administration)

*Bill Barnett* (Personnel & Estate)

Ivor Standbridge*(Site Services)* Denise Dolton John Spencer Harold Jones Julie Butcher Andy Sweetland *(Stores)* 

Margaret Howarth (Personnel & Office Services) Trish Sanders Eileen Younghusband Melanie Purvey Anke Watson Heather Turner Jocelyn Cowley

Angela Rees *(Restaurant)* Mary Wilkinson Deborah R oberts

John Fraser (Logistical Liaison Officer)

Angie Dickerson (Head of Finance Group)

Sue Fenton (Finance & Resource Management) Huw Thomas Thelina Gibson Lyn Ross

Anita Napper *(Accounts)* Brenda Hall Val Lambert

#### Administration

Further details on staff qualifications and job descriptions may be obtained from our WWW pages (see back cover).

#### **APPENDIX 3**

# IH research programme

Soil and soil-vegetation interactions	<ul> <li>Theme 1.1 Physico-chemical processes affecting soil-water interactions Issue 1.11 Solid-solution partitioning of chemical species</li> <li>Theme 1.3 Physical and physiological processes controlling soil water balances</li> <li>Issue 1.3.1 Soil-root interactions at the individual plant root and stand scale Issue 1.3.2 Soil-plant-atmosphere flux transfers in mixed vegetation Issue 1.3.3 Root-soil-water interactions adjacent to fluctuating water tables</li> </ul>
Land use science	<ul> <li>Theme 2.2 Land use systems         Issue 2.2.3 Impacts of land use (change and management)         Issue 2.2.4 Development of land use and water resource management strategies.     </li> <li>Theme 2.4 Landscape function and modelling         Issue 2.4.3 Integrated modelling of land use processes including social and economic variables     </li> </ul>
The urban environment	<ul> <li>Theme 3.1 Factors and processes determing the development of urban environments.</li> <li>Issue 3.2.2. Urban impacts on hydrological processes.</li> <li>Issue 3.2.3. Aquatic ecosystem function.</li> <li>Theme 3.4. Urban water dynamics, risk and hazard.</li> <li>Issue 3.4.1 Low flows and pollution loads.</li> </ul>
Freshwater resources	<ul> <li>Theme 4.1 Surface-groundwater interactions Issue 4.1.1 The recharge-runoff division - Issue 4.1.2 The river-aquifer boundary and floodplain issues Issue 4.1.3 Wetland interactions Issue 4.1.4 Integrated catchment-scale analysis Theme 4.2 Statistical modelling of resource availability Issue 4.2.1 Estimation of resource availability at ungauged sites Issue 4.2.2 Drought frequency estimation Theme 4.3 Water resource modelling Issue 4.3.1 Water resource modelling Issue 4.3.1 Water resource modelling Issue 4.3.2 Methodological developments Issue 4.3.3 Risk analysis and decision support facility Theme 4.4 Integrated water quality modelling Issue 4.4.1 Monitoring and assessment Issue 4.4.3 Development and application of models Theme 4.5 Integrated biolic response modelling Issue 4.5.1 Flow resistance in channels and river ecosystems health Issue 4.5.2 Integration of models of water quantity, quality and biotic variability</li></ul>
Biodiversity and population processes	Theme 5.1 Biodiversity characterisation, pattern and monitoring Theme 5.4 Conservation and restoration of biodiversity Issue 5.4.4 Wetland management and restoration
Pest and disease control	Theme 6.5 Distribution of pathogens in freshwater Issue 6.5.1 Monitoring and risk assessment of pathogens in freshwater

-

Theme 7.2 Acidifying pollutants         Issue 7.2.5 Surface water and catchment scale impacts         Issue 7.2.6 Modelling         Issue 7.2.7 Critical loads         Theme 7.4 Toxic metals         Issue 7.4.1 Transport and deposition         Theme 7.5 Organic pollutants         Issue 7.5.1 Monitoring         Issue 7.5.4 Physico-chemical processes controlling transport in soils and waters	Pollution
<ul> <li>Theme 8.1 Risk assessment and estimation of floods and other extreme events Issue 8.1.1 Mainstream research Issue 8.1.2 Generic solutions to 'joint probability' problem Issue 8.1.3 Collective risk for environmental extremes Issue 8.1.5 Detection of trend and other nonstationary behaviour in time series of environmental extremes </li> <li>Theme 8.2 Real-time flow and water quality forecasting and decision support systems Issue 8.2.1 Methodological developments Issue 8.2.2 Forecasting systems Issue 8.2.4 Real-time water quality forecasting and decision support systems Issue 8.2.4 Real-time water quality forecasting and decision support Theme 8.3 Understanding and modelling the role of rare events on ecological systems Issue 8.3.1 Rare events and ecological processes</li></ul>	Environmental risks and extreme events
Theme 9.1 Greenhouse gas budgets and cycles Issue 9.1.2 Controls of net CO <sub>2</sub> and water/energy fluxes in Amazoma Issue 9.4 Exchange mechanisms in high-fatitude wetlands Theme 9.2 Land-atmosphere-ocean interactions Issue 9.2.1 Improved hydrological representations within GCMs Issue 9.2.3 Snow-melt and rooting models for northern latitudes Issue 9.2.4 Dynamic ecosystem modelling Theme 9.3 Forecasting and detecting the impacts of global change Issue 9.3.1 Downscaling and predicting hydrological and water quality impacts	Global change
<ul> <li>Theme 10.1 Environmental assessment, economics and history: Issue 10.1.1 Environmental valuation and quantitative prediction of environmental impacts.</li> <li>Theme, 10.2 Remote sensing Issue 10.2.2 Algorithms and models for estimation of biophysical variables Issue 10.2.4 Generic data products from earth observation Issue 10.2.5 Infrastructure and facilities. Theme 10.3 Instrumentation Issue 10.3.1 Intelligent sensor clusters.</li> </ul>	Integrating generic science

Theme 10.6 Databases and reference collections

Insue 10.6 Databases and reference concertons Issue 10.6.1 Integrity and accessibility of databases and collections within CEH. **Theme 10.7 Biometrical applications, research and development** Issue 10.7.2 Application and development of biometrical methods

#### **APPENDIX 4**

### Publications

#### **1997** Refereed publications

#### Allen, S.J., Roberts, J.M., Smith,

D.M. Jackson, N.A. and Lawson, G.J. 1997. Simulating the interaction between tree cover and crop temperature in integrated agroforestry models. *Agroforestry Forum* **8**, 20-23.

- Andrews, A.J. 1997. The Southern African FRIEND database. In: Oberlin, G. (ed.), FRIEND Third Report: 1994-1997, CEMAGREF, France. 45-49
- Arah, J. and Hodnett, M.G. 1997 Approximating soil hydrology in agroforestry models. Agroforestry: Forum, 8, 17-20
- Barbier, E., Acreman, M.C. and Knowler, D. 1997. Economic valuation of wetlands: a guide for policy makers and planners Ramsar Convention, Gland, Switzerland, In English, French and Spanish
- Blyth, E.M. 1997. Representing heterogeneity at the Southern Super-Site with average surface parameters *J. Hydrol (HAPEX-Sahel Special Issue)* **188-189**, 869-877.
- Blyth, E.M. and Daamen, C.C. 1997 The accuracy of simple soil water models in chimate forecasting *Hydrol & Earth System Sci.* 1, 241-248.
- Blyth, K. 1997. An assessment of the capabilities of the ERS satellites' active microwave instruments for monitoring soil moisture change *Hydrol & Earth System Sci.* 1, 159-174.
- Boorman, D.B. and Sefton, C.E.M. 1997. Recognising the Uncertainty in the Quantification of the Effects of Climate Change of Hydrological Response *Climatic Change*, **35**. 415-434
- Brilly, M. and Gustard, A. 1997.
  FRIEND '97 Conference Proceedings, Regional Hydrology. Concepts and Models for Sustainable Water Resource Management. LOC Proceedings of oral presentations. Acta Hydrotechnica 15/18 (1997), Ljubljana.
- Brilly, M. and Gustard, A. 1997.
  FRIEND '97 Conference Proceedings, Regional Hydrology.
  Concepts and Models for Sustainable Water Resource Management. LOC Proceedings of poster presentations - Acta bydrotechnica 15/19 (1997), 177p.
  Ljubljana.
- Bromley, J., Edmunds, W.M., Fellman, E., Brouwer, J., Gaze, S.R. Sudlow, J. and Taupin, J.-D. 1997

Estimation of rainfall inputs and direct recharge to the deep unsaturated zone of southern Niger using the chloride profile method *J. Hydrol. (HAPEN-Sabel Special Issue)* **188-189**, 139-154.

- Bromley, J., Edmunds, W.M., Fellman, E., Brouwer, J., Gaze, S.R., Sudlow, J. and Taupin, J. 1997. Rainfall inputs and recharge estimate to the deep unsaturated zone of southern Niger. J. Hydrol. (HAPEN-Sabel Special Issue) 188-189, 139-154.
- Bromley, J., Brouwer, J., Barker, A.P., Gaze, S.R. and Valentin, C. 1997. The role of surface water redistribution in an area of patterned vegetation in a semi-arid environment, south-west Niger. J. Hydrol. 198, 1-29.
- Bullock, A., Andrews, A.J. and Mngodo, R. 1997 Regional water resources and drought assessment in Southern Africa. In: Oberlin, G. (ed). FRIEND Third Report. 1994-1997, CEMAGREF, France, 149-157.
- Bullock, A., Mkhandi, S., Hughes, D.A., Andrews, AJ., Kachroo, R and Mngodo, R. 1997. Southern African FRIEND - international collaboration in the hydrological science of flow regimes. In: S1 Sustainability of Water Resources Under Increasing Uncertainty: 5th Scientific Assembly of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences, 23 April - 3 May 1997. Rabat, Morocco. *IAHS Publ. No* 240, 133-143.
- Burke, E.J., Gurney, R.J., Simmonds, I. P. and Jackson, T.J. 1997 Calibrating a soil water and energy budget model with remotely sensed data to obtain quantitative information about the soil. *Wat Resour Res.*, **33**, 1689-1697
- Burke, E.J. and Stewart, J.B. 1997. Test of a sensible heat flux radiometric surface temperature relationship for HAPEX-Sahel Bound. Layer Met. **84**, 329-357
- Burke, E.J. 1997. Using a modelling approach to predict soil hydraulic parameters from passive micro wave measurements for both bare and cropped soils. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Reading University.
- Calder, I.R. and Hall, R.L. 1997. Comment on 'Interception of tropical rain forest: performance of a canopy water balance model' by V. G. Vetten (In *Hydrol. Proc.* 10, 671-685 (1996)). *Hydrol. Proc.* 11, 225-226

- Calder, I.R., Rosier, P.T.W., Prasanna, K.T. and Parameswarappa, S. 1997. Eucalyptus water use greater than rainfall input — a possible explanation from southern India. *Hydrol. & Earth System Sci.* 1, 249–256.
- Całow, R.C., Robins, N.S., Macdonald, A.M., Macdonald, D.M.J., Gibbs, B.R., Orpen, W.R.G., Mtembezeka, P., Andrews, A.J. and Appiah, S. 1997. Groundwater management in drought-prone areas of Africa. *Int. J. Wat. Resour. Devel.* 13, 241-261.
- Calver, A. 1997 Recharge response functions. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci. 1, 47-53.
- Collins, A.L., Walling, D.E. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Source type ascription for fluvial suspended sediment based on a quantitative composite finger-printing ' technique. Catena 29, 1-27.
- Collins, A.L., Walling, D.E. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Use of the geochemical record preserved in floodplain deposits to reconstruct recent changes in river basin sediment sources. *Geomorphol*ogy 19, 151-167.
- Cosby, B.J., Ferrier, R.C., Jenkins, A., Emmett, B.A., Wright, R.F. and Tietema, A. 1997. Modelling the ecosystem effects of nitrogen deposition. Model of Ecosystem Retention and Loss of Inorganic Nitrogen (MERLIN). Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. 1, 137-158.
- Crane, S.B. and Hudson, J.A. 1997. The impact of site factors and climate variability on the calculation of potential evaporation at Moel Cynnedd, Plynlimon, mid-Wales. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue-Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1: 429-446
- Cuença, R.H., Brouwer, J., Chanzy, A., Droogers, P., Galle, S., Gaze, S.R., Sicot, M., Stricker, H., Angulo-Jaramillo, R., Boyle, S.A., Bromley, J.R., Chebhoum, A.G., Cooper, J.D., Dixon, A.J., Fies, J., Gandah, M., Gaudu, J., Laguerre, L., Soet, M., Steward, H.J., Vandervaere, J. and Vauclin, M. 1997. Soil measurements during the HAPEX-Sahel Intensive Observation Period. J. Hydrol. (HAPEX-Sahel Special Issue). 188-189, 224-266.
- Culf, A.D., Fisch, G., Malhi, Y. and Nobre, C.A. 1997. The influence of the atmosphere boundary layer on carbon dioxide measurements over tropical forest. Agric. For Meteorol. 85, 149-158
- De Bruin, H.A.R. and Verhoef, A. 1997. A new method to estimate

displacement height. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 82, 159-164.

- de Jager, J.M., Vermes, L.P. and Ragab, R. 1997. Sustainable irrigation in areas of water scarcity and drought. Proc. Int. Workshop (ICID and BNCID). 11-12 September, 1997, Oxford, 1-257.
- Delire, C., Calvet, J.C., Noilhan, J., Wright, I.R., Manzi, A. and Nobre, C. 1997. Physical properties of Amazonian soils: a modelling study using the Anglo-Brazilian Amazonian Climate Observation Study data. J. Geophys. Res. 102 (D25), 30,119-30,133.
- Dolman, A.J., Bessemoulin, P. and Culf, A.D. 1997. Observations of boundary layer development during the HAPEN-Sahel intensive observation period. J. Hydrol. (HAPEN-Sahel Special Issue) 188-189, 998-1016.
- Dolman, A.J. and Blyth, E.M. 1997 Patch scale aggregation of heterogeneous land surface cover for mesoscale meteorological models. J. Hydrol. 190, 252–268.
- Dolman, A.J., Gash, J.H.C., Goutorbe, J.P., Kerr, Y.H., Lebel, T., Prince, S.D. and Stricker. J.N.M. 1997. The role of the land surface in Sahelian climate<sup>17</sup> HAPEX-Sahel results and future research needs. *J. Hydrol* (*HAPEN-Sahel Special Issue*) 188-189, 1067-1079
- Dorcey, A., Steiner, A., Acreman, M.C. and and Orlando, B. (Eds) 1997. Large dams — learning from the past, looking to the future: Published by IUCN, World Bank, 145pp
- Downing, T.E., Ringius, L.: Hulme, M. and Waughray, D.K.N. 1997. Adapting to climate change. *Mutigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 2, 19-44.
- Eatherall, A. 1997. Modelling climate change impacts on ecosystems using linked models and a GIS. *Climatic Change* **35**, 17-34.
- Emmett, B.A., Cosby, B.J., Ferrier, R.C., Jenkins, A., Tietema, A. and Wright, R.F. 1997. Modelling the ecosystem effects of nitrogen deposition. Simulation of nitrogen saturation at a Sitka spruce forest. Aber, Wales, UK. *Biogeochemistry* 38, 129-148.
- Evans, J.G., Wass, P.D. and Hodgson, P. 1997: Integrated continuous water quality monitoring for the LOIS Rivers Programme. *Sci. Total Environ* 194/195, 111-118.
- Faulkner, D.S. 1997. Characteristics

of recent UK flood-producing rainfalls in relation to the Flood Studies Report design event method. *Met. Apps.* 4, 259-268.

- Faulkner, D.S., Arnell, N.W. and Reynard, N.S. 1997. Everyday aspects of climate change in Europe. 6th BHS National Hydrology Symposium, Salford, September 1997, '8.1-8.8.
- Finch, J.W., Ragab, R. and Harding, R.J. 1997. A simple method for estimating mean annual groundwater recharge for drift-free areas of the chalk and Permo-Triassic sandstone aquifers in the UK. J. CTWEM. 11, 357-362.
- Finch, J.W. 1997. Monitoring small dams in semi-arid regions using remote sensing and GIS. J Hydrol. 195, 335-351.
- Fisch, G., Lean, J., Wright, I.R. and Nobre, C.A. 1997. Simulações climáticas do efeito do desmatamento na região Amazônica estudo de um caso em Rondônia. *Rev. Brasil de Met.* 12, 33-48.
- Forsius, M., Alveteg, M., Bak, J., Guardans, R., Holmberg, M., Jenkins, A., Johansson, M., Kleemola, S., Rankinen, K., Renshaw, M., Sverdrup, H. and Syn, S. 1997. Assessment of the Effects of the EU Acidification Strategy. Dynamic Modelling on Integrated Monitoring Sites. First Results, 40 pp. Finnish Environment Institute, Helsinki.
- Fox, I.A. and Johnson, R.C. 1997 The hydrology of the River Tweed. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 163-172.Franks, S.W., Beven, K.J., Quinn,
- Franks, S.W., Beven, K.J., Quinn, P.F. and Wright, I.R. 1997. On the sensitivity of soil-vegetationatmosphere transfer (SVAT) schemes: equifinality and the problem of robust calibration Agric. For Meteorol. 86, 63-75.
- Freeman, C., Lock, M.A., Hughes, S., Reynolds, B. and Hudson, J.A. 1997. Nitrous oxide emissions and the use of wetlands for water quality amelioration. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 31, 2438-2440.
- Galea, G. and **Prudhomme, C.** 1997. Regimes synthesis. modelization and display: QdF approaches and regionalization. In: Oberlin, G. (ed.), FRIEND Third Report: 1994-1997. CEMAGREF, France, 99-108.
- Gash, J.H.C. and Nobre, C.A. 1997. Climatic effects of Amazonian deforestation: some results from ABRACOS Bull. Amer. Meteorol Soc. 78, 823-830.
- Gash, J.H.C., Kabat, P., Amadou, M., Bessemoulin, P., Billing, H.,
   Blyth, E.M., De Bruin, H.A.R.,

Elbers, J.A., Friborg, T., Harrison, G., Holwill, C.J., Lloyd, C.R., Lhomme, J.P., Moncrieff, J.B., Monteny, B.A., Puech, D., Sogaard, H., Tuzet, A. and Verhoef, A. 1997. The variability of evaporation during the HAPEX-Sahel Intensive Observation Period. J. Hydrol (HAPEX-Sahel Special Issue) 188-(189, 385-399).

- Givone, P., Gustard, A. and Oberlin, G. 1997. Regional hydrology and integrated water management – future directions for FRIEND. In: Oberlin, G. (ed.), FRIEND Third Report. 1994-1997, CEMAGREF, France
- Goutorbe, J.P., Lebel, T., Dolman, A.J., Gash, J.H.C., Kabat, P., Kerr, Y.H., Monteny, B.A., Prince, S.D., Stricker, J.N.M., Tinga, A. and Wallace, J.S. 1997. An overview of HAPEX-Sahel: a study in climate and desertification. J. Hydrol. (HAPEX-Sabel Special Issue) 188-189, 4-17.
- Gustard, A., Blazkova, S., Brilly, M., Demuth, S., Dixon, J.M., Lanen, H.A.J.v., Llasat, C., Mkhandi, S. and Servat, E. 1997 FRIEND '97 - Regional Hydrology: Concepts and Models for Sustainable Water Resource Management (Proceedings of the Postojna, Slovenia, Conference, Sept-Oct 1997). *IAHS Publ. No.* 246, 363pp.
- Gustard, A. 1997 Future directions for Northern European FRIEND. In: Oberlin, G. (ed.), FRIEND Third Report, 1994-1997, CEMAGREF, France, 391-392.
- Gustard, A., Novicky, S., Demuth, S., Tallaksen, L., Lanen, H.A.J.v., Clausen, B., Kasparek, L., Miklanek, P., Majercakova, O., Fendekova, M., Kupszyk, E., Radsuk, L. and Czamara, W. 1997. Low flows and droughts in Northern Europe. In: Oberlin, G. (ed). FRIEND Third Report: 1994-1997. CEMAGREF, France. p132-1-i8.
- Gustard, A. and Elliott, C.R.N. 1997. The role of hydroecological models in the development of sustainable water resources. In: S1 - Sustainability of Water Resources Under Increasing Uncertainty; 5th Scientific Assembly of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences, 23 April 3 May 1997, Rabat, Morocco. IAHS Publ. No. 240, 407-417.
- Gustard, A., Rees, H.G., Croker, K.M. and Dixon, J.M. 1997. Using regional hydrology for assessing European water resources. FRIEND '97 - Regional Hydrology: Concepts and Models

for Sustainable Water Resource Management (Proceedings of the Postojna, Slovema, Conference, Sept-Oct 1997). *IAHS Publ. No.* 246, 107-115.

- Hall, R.L. and Hopkins, R. 1997 Technical note: a net-rainfall gauge for use with multistemmed trees. *Hydrol. & Earth System Sci.* 1, 213-315.
- Harding, R.J., Blyth, E.M. and Taylor, C.M. 1997. Issues in the aggregation of surface fluxes from a heterogeneous landscape from sparse canopies up to the GCM grid scale. In: van Gardingen, P.R. Foody, G.M. and Curran, P.J. (Eds) Scaling-up From Cell to Landscape. (Society for Experimental Biology: Seminar Series: 63). The Press Syndicate, The University of Cambridge. Cambridge. 229-252.
- Hill, D.R. 1997. Distributing Geographical Information Systems and Data using Java and the Internet: 2nd International Conference on GeoComputation, Dunedin, New Zealand, 319-326
- Hill, T. and Neal, C. 1997. Spatial and temporal variation in pH, alkalimity and conductivity in surface runoff and groundwater for the Upper River Severn catchment. *Hydrology and Earth Systems Sciences (Special Issue Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK))* 1, 697-716
- Hodnett, M.G., Vendrame, I.,
  Oyama, M.D., Marques Filho,
  A.d.O. and Tomasella, J. 1997.
  Soil water storage and
  groundwater behaviour in a
  catenary sequence beneath forest
  in central Amazonia. II.
  Floodplain water table behaviour
  and implications for streamflow
  generation. Hydrol. & Earth
  System Sci. 1, 279-290.
- Hodnett, M.G., Vendrame, I., Marques Filho, A.d.O., Oyama, M.D. and Tomasella, J. 1997. Soil water storage and groundwater behaviour in a catenary sequence beneath forest in central Amazonia. I. Comparisons between plateau, slope and valley floor. Hydrol & Earth System Sci. 1., 265-277.
- House, W.A., Leach, D.V., Long, J.L.A., Cranwell, P., Smith, C.J., Bhardwaj, C.L., Meharg, A., Ryland, G.P., Orr, D.O. and Wright, J. 1997. Micro-organic compounds in the Humber rivers. Special Issue Sci Total Environ. 194/195, 357-371
- Hudson, J.A., Crane, S.B. and Blackie, J.R. 1997. The Plynhmon water balance 1969-1995. the impact of forest and

moorland vegetation on evaporation and streamflow in upland catchments. *Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue-Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)*, **1**, 409–428.

Hughes, S., Reynolds, B. Hudson,
J.A. and Freeman, C. 1997.
Effects of summer drought on peat solution chemistry in an acid gully mire. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue, Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 661-670.

- Huntingford, C. and Cox, P.M. 1997. Use of statistical and neural network techniques to detect how stomatal conductance responds to changes in the local environment. *Ecol. Modelling*: 97, 217-246.
- Jacobs, A.F.G. and Verhoef, A. 1997. Soil evaporation from a sparse natural vegetation estimated from Sherwood numbers. J. Hydrol (HAPEX-Sabel Special Issue) 188-189, 443-452.
- Jarvie, H.P., Neal, C. and Tappin, A D. 1997. European land based pollutant loads to the North Sea an analysis of the Paris Commission data and review of monitoring strategies. Special Issue Sci. Tot. Envir. 194/195, 41-58.
- Jarvie, H.P., Neal, C., Leach, D.V. Ryland, G.P., House, W.A. and Robson, A.J. 1997. Major ion concentrations and the inorganic carbon chemistry of the Humber rivers. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 285-302
- Jarvie, H.P., Neal, C. and Robson, A.J. 1997. The Geography of the Humber catchment. Special Issue Sci. Tot. Envar., 194/195, 88-99
- Jenkins, A., Ferrier, R.C. and Cosby, B.J. 1997. A dynamic model for assessing the impact of coupled sulphur nitrogen deposition scenarios on surface water acidification. J. Hydrol. 197, 111-127
- Jenkins, A., Boorman, D.B., Cooper, D.M. and Ferrier, R.C. 1997. Water quality modelling at the catchment scale; state of the art and future challenges. In: Maxwell, J.T. and Byrd, S. (eds) Integrated Catchment Management. MLURI, Aberdeen
- Jenkins, A., Reynolds, B.,
   Renshaw, M. and Curtis, C.
   1997. Critical loads for soils and freshwaters: A comparison of methods at the Plynlimon catchments. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 729-742
- Johnson, A.C., Worrall, F., White, C., Walker, A., Besien, T.J. and

Williams, R.J. 1997. The potential of incorporated organic matter to reduce pesticide. leaching. *Taxicol. Environ. Chemistry* 58, 47-61.

- Johnson, R.C. and Black, A.R. 1997. The effects of forestry on low flows in Scotland and Northern Ireland. In: Sustainability of water resources under increasing uncertainty. Proceedings of the Rabat Symposium, April 1997. IAHS Publ. No. 240, 125-132.
- Jones, D.A. 1997. Plotting positions via maximum-likelihood for a non-standard situation. *Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci.* 1, 357-366.
- Kirby, C. 1997. Shallow aquifer water quality risks. In: Pickford, J. (ed), Water & Sanitation for All, 23rd WEDC Conf., Durban. 384-387.

Kirby, C. 1997. Catchment behaviour and bacteriological quality of rural water supplies, Southern Zimbabwe: BHS 6th Nat. Hydrology Symposium, Salford, 4:41-4:47.

- Kirby, C., Neal, C., Turner, H. and Moorhouse, P. 1997. A bibliography of hydrological, geomorphological, sedimentological, biological and hydrochemical references to the Institute of Hydrology experimental catchment studies in Plynlimon. In: McCulloch, J.S.G. & Neal,C. (eds), Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK). Hydrol. & Earth System Sci. 1, 755-763.
- Lamb, R., Beven, K.J. and Myrabo, S. 1997. Discharge and water table predictions using a generalized TOPMODEL formulation. *Hydrol. Proc.* 11, 1145-1167.
- Lamb, R. and Beven, K.J. 1997. Using interactive recession curve analysis to specify a general catchment storage model. *Hydrol* & Earth System Sci. 1, 101-113.
- Langan, S.J., Wade, A.J., Smart, R., Edwards, A.C., Soulsby, C.,
  Billett, M.F., Jarvle, H.P.,
  Cresser, M.S., Owen, R. and
  Ferrier, R.C. 1997. The prediction and management of water quality in a relatively unpolluted major Scottish catchment: current issues and experimental approaches. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 419-435.
- Law, M., Wass, P.D. and Grimshaw, D. 1997. The hydrology of the Humber catchment. *Special Issue Sci. Total Environ.* 194/195, 119-128.
- Lawler, D.M., Harris, N. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Automated

monitoring of bank erosion dynamics: applications of the novel Photo-Electronic Erosion Pin (PEEP) system in upland and lowland river basins. In: S.Y.Wang et al. (Eds) Management of Landscape Disturbed by Channel Incision. University of Mississippi. Oxford. Mississippi. 249-255.

- Leduc, C., Bromley, J. and Schroeter, P. 1997. Water table fluctuation and recharge in a semi-arid climate: some results of the HAPEX Sahel Hydrodynamic Survey (Niger). J. Hydrol. (HAPEX-Sahel Special Issue) 188-189, 123-138.
- Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. The Land-Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS): Development and results of the River Basins Component. Abstract for presentation given at "River Dynamics - past, present and future" Symposium, Lunteren, 30 October 1997.
- Leeks, GJ.L. 1997. Dynamics of river sediments in forested headwater streams: Plynlimon. Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue, Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)), 1, 483-498
- Leeks, G.J.L. and Marks, S.D. 1997. Particulate outputs in relation to the forest cycle. *Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK))* **1**, 381-764.
- Leeks, G.J.L. Neal, C., Jarvie, H.P., Casey, H and Leach, D.V. 1997. The LOIS river monitoring network: strategy and implementation. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 101-109
- Lees, J., Foster, I., Walling, D.E. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Sediment yields in a changing environment: a historical reconstruction using reservoir bottom sediments in three contrasting catchinents, North Yorks Moors, UK. *IAHS Publ. No.* 245, 169-179.
- Lewis, D.R., Williams, RJ. and Whitehead, P.G. 1997 Quality simulation along rivers (QUASAR): an application to the Yorkshire Ouse. Special Issue Sci Total Environ 194/195, 399-(18).
- Lloyd, C.R., Bessemoulin, P., Cropley, F.D.: Culf, A.D., Dolman, A.J., Elbers, J., Heusinkveld, B., Moncrieff, J.B., Momeny, B.A. and Verhoef, A. 1997. A comparison of surface fluxes at the HAPEX-Sahel fallow bush sites. J. Hydrol. (HAPEX-Sahel Special Issue) 188-189, 400-425.
- Lloyd, J., Kruijt, B., Hollinger, D.Y., Grace, J., Francey, R.J., Wong,

S.C., Kelliher, F.M., Miranda, A.C., Farquhar, G.D., Gash, J.H.C., Vygodskaya, N.N., Wright, I.R., Miranda, H.S. and Schulze, E.D. 1997. An alternative interpretation of the appropriateness and correct means for the evaluation of CO<sub>2</sub> recycling indices. *Australian J. Plant Physiol.* 24, 399-405.

- Marengo, J.A., Nobre, C.A. and Culf, A.D. 1997. Climatic impacts of the "friagens" in forested and deforested areas of the Amazon basin. J. Appl. Meteorol. 36, 1553-1566.
- Marks, S.D. and Rutt, G.P. 1997.
   Fluvial sediment inputs to upland gravel bed rivers draining forested catchments: potential ecological impacts. *Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)*) 1, 499-508.
- Marsh, TJ. and Sanderson, FJ. 1997 A review of hydrological conditions throughout the period of the LOIS monitoring programme, considered within the context of the recent UK climatic volatility. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 59-69.
- Maynell, P.-J., Pirot, J. Y. and Acreman, M.C. 1997. Guidelines for Aid Agencies for Improved Conservation and Sustainable Use of Tropical and Sub-Tropical Wetlands. OECD Guidelines on Aid and Environment, No. 9.
   Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris, France
- Moncrieff, J.B., Massheder, J.M., De-Bruin, H.A.R., Elbers, J., Friborg, T., Heusinkveld, B.G., Kabat, P., Scott, S., Sogaard, H. and
  Verhoef, A. 1997. A system to measure fluxes of momentum, sensible heat, water vapour and carbon dioxide. *J. Hydrol.* (*HAPEX-Sabel Special Issue*) 188-189, 589-611
- Moncrieff, J.B., Monteny, B.A.,
  Verhoef, A., Friborg, T., Kabat, P., De Bruin, H.A.R., Sogaard, H., Jarvis, P.G. and Billing, H. 1997.
  Spatial and temporal variations in net Carbon flux during HAPEX-Sahel. J. Hydrol. (HAPEX-Sahel Special Issue) 188-189, 563-588.
- Monteny, B.A., Lhomme, J.P., Chehbouni, A., Amadou, M., Troufleau, D., Brunel, J.P., Bessemoulin, P., Sicot, M., Galle, S., Lloyd, C.R. and Said, F. 1997. Les interactions surface continentale-atmosphere enmilieu sahelien. Passage de Fechelle stationnelle a Fechelle regionale. X<sup>e</sup> journées hydrologiques – ORSTOM Conference,
  - September 1994, 287-301.

- Monteny, B.A., Lhomme, P.J., Chehboum, A., Troufleau, D., Amadou, M., Sicot, M., Galle, S., Said, F., Verhoef, A. and Lloyd, C.R. 1997. The rôle of the Sahelian biosphere in the water and CO<sub>2</sub> cycle during the HAPEX-Sahel experiment. J. Hydrol (HAPEX-Sabel Special Issue) 188-189, 516-535.
- Moore, R.V. 1997. The logical and physical design of the Land Ocean Interaction Study database. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 137-146.
- Neal, C. 1997. A view of water quality from the Plynlimon watershed. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 743-753.
- Neal, C. 1997 Comments on "Influence of autocorrelation and measurement errors on interpretation of solubility diagrams" *Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J.* 61, 350-331.
- Neal, C. 1997. Book review "Introducing groundwater", 2nd edition, by Michael Price Chapman and Hall (London), 1996. Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sciences (Special Issue, Water Quality of the Phynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 764
- Neal, C., House, A., Jarvie, H.P., Leeks, G.J.L. and Marker, A.H. 1997. Conclusions to the special volume of *Science of the Total Environment* concerning UK fluxes to the North Sea, Land Ocean Interaction Study, river basins research, the first two years. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 467-477
- Neal, C. and Robson, A.J. 1997 Integrating variations of soil adsorbed cations into a cation exchange model. Sci. Total Engino. 199, 277-292.
- Enteron 199, 277-292.
  Neal, C., Hill, T., Hill, S. and Reynolds, B. 1997. Acid neutralisation capacity measurements in surface waters and groundwaters in the Upper-River Severn, Plynlimon: from hydrograph splitting to water flow pathways. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 687-696
- Neal, C., Robson, A.J., Harrow, M., Hill, L., Wickham, C.L.
  Bhardwaj, C.L., Tindall, C.I., Ryland, G.P., Leach, D.V., Johnson, R.C., Bronsdon, R.K. and Cranston, M. 1997. Major, minor, trace element and suspended sediment variations in the River Tweed: results from the Land Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS) core monitoring

programme Special Issue Sci Total Environ **194/195**, 193 205

- Neal, C., Hill, T., Alexander, S., Reynolds, B., Hill, S., Dixon, AJ., Harrow, M.L., Neal, M. and Smith, CJ. 1997. Streamwater quality in acid sensitive UK upland areas, an example of potential water quality remediation based on groundwater manipulation. Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. 1, 185-196
- Neal, C., Robson, A.J., Shand, P., Edmunds, W.M., Dixon, A.J., Buckley, D.K., Hill, S., Harrow, M.L., Neal, M. and Reynolds, B. 1997. The occurrence of groundwater in the Lower Palaeozoic rocks of upland Central Wales. *Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci.* 1, 3-18.
- Neal, C., Robson, A.J. and Christophersen, N. 1997
  Towards coupling hydrological, soil and weathering processes within a modelling perspective. In O.M. Saether and P. de Caritat (eds), *Geochemical Processes, Weathering and Groundwater Recharge in Catchments*, Balkema, Rotterdam 329-380.
- Neal, C., Robson, A.J., Jeffrey, H.A., Harrow, M.L. Neal, M., Smith, C.J. and Jarvie, H.P. 1997. Trace element interrelationships for the Humber rivers: inferences for hydrological and chemical controls. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195. 321-343
- Neal, C., Wilkinson, R.J., Neal, M., Harrow, M.L., Wickham, H., Hill, L. and Morfitt, C. 1997. The hydrochemistry of the River Severn, Plynlimon, Wales. Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 583-618.
- Neal, C., House, W.A., Leeks, G.J.L. and Marker, A.H. 1997. UK fluxes to the North Sea, Land Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS): river basins research, the first 2 years 1993-1995. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 1-4.
- Neal, M., Neal, C. and Brahmer, G. 1997. Stable oxygen isotope variations in rain, snow and streamwaters at the Schluchsee and Villingen sites in the Black Forest, South-West Germany J. Hydrol., 190, 102-110.
- Noilhan, J., Lacarré, P., Dolman, A J and Blyth, E.M. 1997. Defining area average parameters in meteorological models for land surfaces with mesoscale heterogeneity. J. Hydrol. 190, 302-316.

- Polarski, M. 1997. Distributed rainfall-runoff model incorporating channel extension and gridded digital maps. *Hydrol. Proc.* 11, 1-11.
- Prudhomme, C. and Galea, G. 1997. Non-stationary regimes: the QdF models behaviour FRIEND '97. Proc. Postojna, Slovenia Conference. Sept-Oct. 1997. IAHS Publ. No. 246, 267-276.
- Ragab, R., Finch, J.W. and Harding, RJ. 1997 Estimation of groundwater recharge to chalk and sandstone aquifers using simple soil models. *J. Hydrol.* 190, 19-41
- Ragab, R. and Hamdy, A. 1997 Reuse of saline and waste waters for irrigation: major issues on water, crop and soil management, environment protection and health safety. Proc. Int Conf. "Water Management, Salinity and Pollution Control Towards Sustainable Irrigation in the Mediterranean Region" Valenzano (Bari). Italy, 22-26 September 1997, 1 (Keynote Papers), 101-143.
- Rees, H.G., Croker, K.M., Reynard, N.S. and Gustard, A. 1997
  Estimation of renewable water resources in the European Union FRIEND '97 - Regional Hydrology: Concepts and Models for Sustainable Water Resource Management (Proc. Postojna, Slovenia, Conf. Sept Oct 1997) IAHS Publ. No. 246, 31-38.
- Rees, H.G. 1997. HYDRA Rapid assessment of small scale hydropower potential World Directory of Renewable Energy Suppliers and Services, 1997.
- Rees, H.G. 1997. International FRIEND Group Databases. In. Oberlin, G. (ed.), FRIEND Third Report: 1994-1997. CEMAGREF, France.
- Rees, H.G. 1997. The FRIEND European Water Archive. In: Oberlin, G. (ed.), FRIEND Third Report: 1994-1997, CEMAGREF, France 33-37
- Reynard, N.S., Andrews, A.J. and Arnell, N.W. 1997. The derivation of a runoff grid for southern Africa for climate change impact analyses. FRIEND '97 - Regional Hydrology: Concepts and Models for Sustainable Water Resource Management (Proc. Postojna, Slovenia, Conf. Sept-Oct 1997). IAHS Publ. No. 246, 1977. 23-30.
- Reynolds, B., Renshaw, M., Sparks, T.H., Hudson, J.A., Hughes, S., Brittain, S.A. and Kennedy, V.H. 1997. Patterns of variation in stream water chemistry in two

moorland catchments of the Upper River Wye, Plynlimon, Mid-Wales. Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 571-582.

- Roberts, A.M. 1997. A data management strategy for scientific research: International Symposium on Environmental Software Systems (ISESS '97) 28 April - 2 May 1997, British Columbia, Canada, 2, 121-127.
- Roberts, G. 1997. The influence of sampling frequency on streamflow chemical loads. *J. CIWEM*, 11, 114–118.
- Roberts, G. and Crane, S.B. 1997. Temporal variations in near surface soil moisture at two contrasting sites in the Wye catchment and their control on storm streamflow generation. *Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci.* (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Phynhimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 453-462.
- Roberts, G. and Crane, S.B. 1997 The effects of clear-felling established forestry on streamflow losses from the Hore subcatchment. *Hydrol, & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK))* **1**, 477-482.
- Robson, A.J. and Neal, C. 1997. A summary of regional water quality for Eastern UK rivers. Sci Total Environ. 194/195, 15-38.
- Robson, A.J. and Neal, C. 1997. A summary of regional water quality for Eastern UK rivers. In: UK fluxes to the North Sea, Land Ocean Interactions Study (LOIS). river basins research, the first two years. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 15-37.
- Robson, A.J. and Neal, C. 1997 Regional water quality of the River Tweed basin. Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 173-193
- Robson, A.J. and Neal, C. 1997 Regional Water Quality of the River Tweed Special Issue Sci Total Entiron 194/195, 173 192.
- Rosbjerg, D., Boutayeb, N.-E., Gustard, A., Kundzewicz, Z.W. and Rasmussen, P.F. 1997. IAHS Rabat Conference - Sustainability of water resources under increasing uncertainty. *IAHS Publ. no.* 240, -528pp.
- Sefton, C.E.M. and Boorman, D.B. 1997. A regional investigation of climate change impacts on UK streamflows. J. Hydrol. 195, 26-44
- Smith, D.M., Jackson, N.A. and Roberts, J.M. 1997. A new direction in hydraulic lift: can tree roots siphon water

downwards? Agroforestry Forum 8, 23-26.

- Smith, D.M., Jarvis, P.G. and Odongo, J.C.W. 1997. Aerodynamic conductances of trees in windbreaks. Agric. For. Meteorol. 86, 17-31.
- Smith, D.M., Jarvis, P.G. and Odongo, J.C.W. 1997. Energy budgets of windbreak canopies in the Sahel. Agric. For. Meteorol. 86, 49.
- Smith, D.M., Jarvis, P.G. and Odongo, J.C.W 1997. Sources of water used by trees and millet in Sahelian windbreak systems. J. Hydrol. 198, 140-153.
- Soulsby, C., Helliwell, R.C., Ferrier, R.C., Jenkins, A. and Harriman, R. 1997, Seasonal snowpack influence on the hydrology of a sub-arctic catchment in Scotland. J. Hydrol. 192, 17-32.
- Soulsby, C., Chen, M., Helliwell, R.C., Ferrier, R.C., Jenkins, A. and Harriman, R. 1997. Groundwater influence on the hydrology and hydrochemistry of upland streams in Scotland. Proc. BHS 6th National Hydrology Symposium, Salford, 2.9-2.16.
- Taylor, C.M., Harding, R.J., Thorpe, A.J. and Bessemoulin, P. 1997. A mesoscale simulation of land surface heterogeneity from HAPEN Sahel. J. Hydrol. (HAPEN-Sahel Special Issue) 188-189, 1040–1066.
- Taylor, C.M., Said, F. and Lebel, T. 1997. Interactions between the land surface and mesoscale rainfall variability during HAPEN-Sahel. *Monthly:Weather Review*. 125, 2211-2227.
- Tindall, C.L. and Moore, R.V. 1997 The Rivers Database and the overall data management for the Land Ocean Interaction Study programme. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 129-135
- Tomasella, J. and Hodnett, M.G. 1997. Estimating unsaturated hydraulic conductivity of Brazilian soils using soil-water retention data. *Soil Sci.* 162, 703-712.
- Valente, F., David, J.S. and Gash, J.H.C. 1997. Modelling interception loss for two sparse eucalypt and pine forests in central Portugal using reformulated Rutter and Gash analytical models. J. Hydrol. 190, 141-162.
- Verhoef, A., McNaughton, K.G. and Jacobs, A.F.G. 1997. A parameterization of momentum roughness length and displacement height for a wide range of canopy densities *Hydrol Earth System Sci.* 1, 89-91.

- Verhoef, A., De Bruin, H.A.R. and Van den Hurk, B.J.I.M. 1997. Some practical notes on the parameter kl3-1 for sparse canopies. J. Appl. Meteorol. 36, 560-572.
- Verhoef, A. 1997. The effect of temperature differences between porometer head and leaf surface on stomatal conductance measurements. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 20, 641-646.
- Viville, D. and Littlewood, I.G. (Eds) 1997. Ecohydrological processes in small basins. Sixth Conference of the European Network of Experimental and Representative Basins (ERB). Strasbourg (France), 24 September 1997, No. 14
- Wan, M.M.K., Smith, E.A., Bessemoulin, P., Culf, A.D., Dolman, A.J. and Lebel, T. 1997. Variability in boundary layer structure during HAPEX Sahel wet-dry season transition. J Hydrol. (HAPEX-Sabel Special Issue) 188-189, 965-997
- Wallace, J.S. and Batchelor, C.H. 1997. Managing water resources for crop production. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London* B352, 937-947.
- Wallace, J.S. and Holwill, C.J. 1997. Soil evaporation from Tiger bush in Niger *J. Hydrol* (*HAPEX-Sabel Special Issue*) 188-189, 426-442.
- Walling, D.E. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Sediment sources in the Upper Severn catchment: a fingerprinting approach. *Hydrology and Earth Systems Sciences (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)* 1, 509-522.
- Wass, P.D., Marks, S.D., Finch, J.W., Leeks, G.J.L. and Ingram. J.K. 1997. Monitoring and preliminary interpretation of inriver turbidity and remote sensed imagery for suspended sediment transport studies in the Humber catchment. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 263-283
- Webb, B.W., Phillips, J.M., Walling, D.E., Littlewood, I.G., Watts, C.D. and Lecks, G.J.L. 1997 Load estimation methodologies for British rivers and their relevance to the LOIS RACS(R) programme. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 379-389
- Whitehead, P.G., Williams, R.J. and Lewis, D.R. 1997. Quality simulation along river systems (QUASAR): model theory and development. Special Issue Sci Total Environ. 194/195, 447-456
- Wilkinson, R.J., Reynolds, B., Neal, C., Hill, S., Neal, M. and

Harrow, M.L. 1997. Major, minor and trace element. composition of cloud water and rainwater at Plynlimon, Mid-Wales Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue, Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 557-570.

- Wilkinson, W.B., Leeks, G.J.L., Morris, A. and Walling, D.E. 1997. Rivers and coastal research in the Land Ocean Interaction Study. Special Issue Sci. Total Environ. 194/195, 5-14.
- Worrall, F., Parker, A., Rae, J.E. and Johnson, A.C. 1997. A study of the adsorption kinetics of isoproturon on soil and subsoil. *Chemosphere* 34, 71-86.
- Worrall, E., Parker, A., Rae, J.E. and Johnson, A.C. 1997. A study of the sorption kinetics of isoproturon on soil and subsoil- the role of dissolved organic carbon *Chemosphere* 34, 87-97.
- Worrall, F., Parker, A., Rae, J.E. and Johnson, A.C. 1997. The role of earthworm burrows in pesticide transport from ploughlands. *Toxicol. Environ. Chem.* 61, 211-222
- Yeo, A.R., Flowers, T.J., Ragab, R. and Pearce, G.R. 1997. The role of crop salt tolerance in the development of an integrated management plan for irrigation with saline water. Proc. Int. Conf. Water Management, Salinity and Pollution Control Towards Sustainable Irrigation in the Mediterranean Region, Valenzano (Bari), Italy. 22-26 September 1997, IV. 19-35.

#### Other publications

- Acreman, M.C., Blasco, D., Parish, F., Lum, K., Marks, J., Milner, S., Ejigu, M., Robelus, R. and Fuchs-Carsch, M. 1997. Global Water Partnership - Ecosystem Sector Report to Global Water Partnership
- Andrews, A.J. 1997. Contribution to Chapter 1 of Rees. G. (ed.) 1997 FRIEND Report. *IH Internal Review Process.*
- Barbier, E., Acreman, M.C., Knowler, D. and Fey, N. 1997. Economic valuation of wetlandskey concepts for policy makers and planners. (Brochure in English, French and Spanish)
- Batchelor, C.H. 1997. Communitybased water development: Putting Research Into Practice.
   Water, Issue No. 4. Department For International Development.
   Batchelor, C.H., Cain, LD.

Batchelor, C.H., Cain, J.D.,

Farquharson, F.A.K. and Roberts, J.R. 1997. Improving water utilisation from a catchment perspective. Paper presented at the System-Wide Initiative on Water Management (SWIM) meeting, Nairobi, 5-6 May 1997, 32pp.

- Bayliss, A.C. 1997. Catchment characteristics for flood estimation: indexing catchment size, configuration, altitude, steepness and aspect. Flood Estimation Handbook Note 32.
- Bayliss, A.C. 1997. The validation and update of the IH Flood Peak Database. Flood Estimation Handbook Note 38.
- Bell, V.A. and Moore, R.J. 1997 A water-balance storm model for short-term rainfall and flood forecasting at the catchment scale. Abstract. Annales Geophysicae, Part 1 Society Symposia, Solid Earth Geophysics & Natural Hazards, NH4 Hydrology of extremes and numerical weather predictions. EGS 22nd General Assembly, Vienna, April 1997, Supplement I to Volume 15, C237.
- Blyth, K. 1997. Flocknet: A telenetwork for acquisition, processing and dissemination of earth observation data for monitoring and emergency management of floods. *Hydrol*
- Proc. 11, 1359-1375. (Abstract).
   Calver, A. 1997. Continuous rainfallrunoff modelling for better flood frequency estimation. Research Netics from Flood and Coastal Defence with Emergencies Division. Ministry of Agriculture. Fisheries and Food. Issue 10
- Culf, A.D., Fisch, G., Lean, J., Polcher, J. and Viterbo, P. 1997. A comparison of Amazonian climate data with General Circulation Model simulations. *Royal Met. Soc. Climate Conference* (Abstract).
- Faulkner, D.S. 1997. Rainfall frequency results for Northern Ireland and Scotland. Flock Estimation Handbook Note 40.
- Faulkner, D.S. 1997. UNDETERRED: Unified empirical technique for estimating really rare extremes. Inception Report.
- Finch, J.W. 1997 Land cover mapping for a groundwater recharge study in south-west Niger. Proc. Remote Sensing Soc. Conf., Reading, UK, 422-427.
- Flavin, R.W. 1997 Answers to correspondents. "How long does it take water in Lake Victoria to flow the 3800 miles down the River Nile to the sea". In: Daily Mail

- Gash, J.H.C. and Culf, A.D. 1997. The water cycle in the Amazon basin. *The Globe*, 40 (December 1997), 11-12.
- Gunston, H.M. and Rosier, P.T.W. 1997. Catchment management and cloud water deposition on St Helena. *DFID Water Neusletter*, **5** (November 1997).
- Gunston, H.M. 1997 Hydrological History from an Industrial Source Joseph Glynn, John Trickett and Pumping at Pode Hall, 1830 to 1835.
- Gunston, H.M. 1997 Industrial archaeology and historical hydrology. *Industrial Archaeology Netus* **100** (Spring 1997), 10-11
- Gunston, H.M. 1997 The flow record from Wendover Springs
   — Historical interests of the National Water Archive.
- Gustard, A. 1997. A review of low flow studies in the Northern and Western European FRIEND project Seminaire international annuel du groupe AMHY de FRIEND, Thessaloniki, Greece, September 1995
- Hall, R.L. and Allen, S.J. 1997.
  Water use of poplar clones grown as short-rotation coppice at two sites in the United Kingdom. In: *Biomass and Energy Crops* - Proc. 'Aspects of Applied Biology' Conference, 1996. 49, 163-172.
- Harding, R.J. 1997. Book Review. Climate Change 1995 Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci. 1, 379-379.
- Harding, R.J. 1997 Data for calibration and verification of land surface models at high latitudes. Proc. ACSVS Workshop, Bracknell, November, 1996
- Hills, S. 1997. IH Digital Terrain Model of Northern Ireland Data Problems and Quality Control Flood Estimation Handbook Note 33
- Hudson, J.A. Crane, S.B. Hill,
  P.J. Hughes, W.A., Robinson,
  M., Reynolds, B., Brittain, S.A.,
  Wood, M.J., Beaumont, W.R.C.
  and Tipping, E. 1997. Upland
  forestry canopy closure: its
  implications for chemistry.
  hydrology and ecology CEH
  Integrating Fund progress
  report.
- Huntingford, C., Blyth, E.M. and Wood, N. 1997. The effect of orography on evaporation. Earth-Ocean-Atmosphere Forces for Change (Abstract).
- Jackson, N.A., Smith, D.M., Roberts, J.M. and Wallace, J.S. 1997. Water balance of

agroforestry systems on hillslopes - Phase II. Annual Report to DFID/FRP 96-97.

- Jacobs, A.F.G., Verhoef, A. and De Bruin, H.A.R. 1997. Sensible heat flux from sparse vegetation estimated from Nusselt number. In: *Physics & Chemistry of the Earth.* Proc. EGS XXI General Assembly, 21, 107-110.
- Jakob, D. 1997. Catchment daily rainfall time series: some details. Flood Estimation Handbook Note 34.
- Jakob, D. 1997. Proposing regions for flood frequency analysis. Flood Estimation Handbook Note 35
- Jakob, D. 1997. Comparison of FSR regions and FEH Note 35 regions. Flood Estimation Handbook Note 37.
- Jenkins, A. 1997. A catchment based modelling scheme for prediction of bacterial water quality and hazard assessment. In: Measurement and Testing Programme. Technical feasibility of an *a priori* measurement approach for managing bathing water quality (Maier, E.A., Lightfoot, N.F., Ramaekers, D.A. (Eds)). Report of the Workshop held in Sitges, Spain, on 26-29 April 1997. Report EUR 17801 EN (ISSN 1018-5593), 12-15
- Jenkins, A. 1997 Book Review of "Environmental Hydrology" edited by Vijay P. Singh Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 22, 189-192.
- Jenkins, A., Renshaw, M., Helliwell, R.C., Sefton, C.E.M., Ferrier, R.C. and Swingewood, P 1997 Modelling surface water acidification in the UK. Application of the MAGIC model to the Acid Waters Monitoring Network. Institute of Hydrology Report No. 131, Wallingford
- Jones, D.A. and Reed, D.W. 1997. Extreme water levels in estuaries: related experience at the Institute of Hydrology Extreme water levels in estuaries. Paper to Environment Agency Workshop, 21 January 1997.
- Lamb, R. and Calver, A. 1997 Flood frequency estimation by continuous rainfall-runoff modelling. Paper presented at the British Hydrological Society Pennines Group meeting on Development and Practical Applications of Frequency Analysis. February 1997.
- Lamb, R. and Calver, A. 1997. Towards generalized flood frequency estimation using continuous minfall-runoff modelling. Paper presented at

the European Geophysical Society XXII General Assembly, Session HS11.2, Vienna, Austria, April 1997. Annales Geophysicae, Part II. Hydrology. Oceans, Atmosphere & Nonlinear Geophysics. (Abstract).

- Law, F.M. 1997. Book Review of: "Hydraulic Structures". 2nd Edition, by Prof. Paul Novak, A.I.B. Moffatt, C. Nalluri and R. Narayan, Publ. by E. and F.N. Spon, London, 1996. J. Hydrol. 191, 370.
- Law, F.M. 1997. Book Review. "Jersey Weather and Tides" by Peter Manton. Seaflower Books, Jersey. *Climatological Observers'* Link 326 (June 1997), 47.
- Law, F.M. 1997 Dam Failures. Dams and Reservoirs 7, 27.
- Law, F.M. 1997 Report on IHPrelated activities in the UK. *Circulation* 53 (February 1997), 7-9.
- Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. An overview of progress in LOIS river basins. Abstract of oral presentation in Land-Ocean Interaction Study Second Annual Meeting Proceedings. LOIS Publication No., 323, 74-75.
- Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Water Pollution, Resources and Flockling Workshop Report of the Network for Exchange of Expertise in Urban environment - NORMEX/ URBA, Paris, 26-51
- Littlewood, I.G., Gergov, G. and Hodgson, P. 1997. UK-Bulgarian environmental research on sediment transport in rivers *Circulation* 55, 10-11.
- Marsh, T.J. 1997. Hydrology at Highdown 6th Form geographical teaching resource (electronic book format). Highdown Information Hub: http:// www.highdown.berks.sch.uk.
- Marsh, TJ. 1997 Readers' Forum The UK drought and climate change. Weather 52, 354-355.
- Marsh, T.J. and Green, S. 1997. 1996 Yearbook: Hydrological Data UK
- Marsh, T.J. and Stirling, R 1997. Drought In: *The Weather of Britain*. DML Publishers 97-109
- Marshall, D.C.W. and Davie, N.J. 1997. Relationship between FSR and FEH indices of catchment urbanisation. Flood Estimation Handbook Note 36.
- Moore, RJ. 1997. Management and Prevention of Crisis Situations: Floods, Droughts and Institutional Aspects. Country Paper of the United Kingdom. EurAqua Third Technical Review, Rome, 23-25 October 1996, 197-225.
- Moore, R.J. and Bell, V.A. 1997 A water-balance storm model for

short-term rainfall and flood forecasting at the catchment scale using radar and satellite data. Ribamod: River basin modelling, management and flood mitigation. Concerted action. Proc. Second Expert Meeting: Integrated Systems for Real time Flood Forecasting and Warning, "Dino Tonini" International Centre of Hydrology, Monselice. Padova, Italy, 25-26 September 1997, European Commission.

- Moore, R.J., Bell, V.A., Austin, R.M., and Harding, R.J. 1997.
  Methods for snowmelt forecasting in upland Britain. Abstract.
  Annales Geophysicae. Part 1
  Society Symposia, Solid Earth Geophysics & Natural Hazards.
  NH4 Hydrology of extremes and numerical weather predictions.
  EGS 22nd General Assembly.
  Vienna, April 1997, Supplement 1 to Volume 15, C238
- Moore, R.J., Bell, V.A., Austin, R.M. and Harding, R.J. 1997. Developments in snowmelt modelling for floxd forecasting The Snow Resources of Scotland, 19 March 1997, The Royal Hotel, Bridge of Allan, Scotland Invited paper
- Moore, R.J. and Jones, D.A. 1997. Linking hydrological and hydrodynamic forecast models and their data. In: R. Casale, K. Havno and P. Samuels (eds.) *Ribamod. River basin modelling. management and flood mitigation. Concerted action* Proc. First Expert Meeting. Copenhagen, 10-11. October 1996, EUR 17456 EN. European Commission, 37-56.
- Morris, S.E. 1997. Catchment characteristics for flood estimation. indices of catchment wetness. *Flood Estimation* Handbook Note 31.
- Naden, P.S. 1997. Towards whole catchment modelling. *MAFF Newsletter*, **10**.
- Naden, P.S. 1997. World Climate Research Programme 1997. Continental-scale hydrological models: charting the future. Report of WMO/IAHS Workshop, Wallingford, November 1996 WMO, Geneva.
- Neal, C. 1997 Review of "The freshwater imperative" edited by Naiman, J.J., McKnight, D.M. and Stanford, J.A. J. Hydrol. 191, 364-365.
- Nobre, C.A. and Gash, J.H.C. 1997. Desmatamento muda clima da Amazônia. *Ciência Hoje* 22, 32-41.
- Prudhomme, C. and Galea, G. 1997. Discharge-duration-Frequency model: an efficient

synthetic model for the regionalisation of hydrological regimes. XVII Annual American Geophysical Union Hydrology days - Fort Collins, Colorado, USA, 1-i-18 April, 375-386

- Prudhomme, C. and Galea, G. 1997. The typology of the regional QdF models - FRIEND '97' LOC Proc. Postojna, Slovenia Conference, 75-78.
- Ragab, R., Sene, K. and Austin, B. 1997. A decision support system for hill reservoirs in the semiarid zone of the Mediterranean periphery. *Ann Geophys.* II, Supplement II to Vol. 15, 338. (Abstract)
- Ragab, R., Austin, B.N. and Albergel, J. 1997. Hydrology of senti-arid Mediterranean catchments with hill reservoirs an overview and some probininary results from a. Tunisian catchment. Proc. "Water in the Mediterranean" Conference, Istanbul, Turkey
- Ragab, R. 1997 Inter-plant competition and complementarity for water resource capture in natural and agro ecosystem *GCTE Workshop on Modelling Inter-Plant competition in Natural And Agro-ecosystems*, Wageningen. The Netherlands
- Rees, H.G. 1997 FRIEND '97 Third International Conference of FRIEND, Postojna, Slovenia, 1-3 October 1997 IAHS Neusletter No. 62
- Reynard, N.S. 1997. Climate change Issues, implications and impacts Conf. on Water Resource Management, IBC Ltd. December 1997.
- Roberts, A.M. 1997 1H Lowland Catchment Database Facility Pang Catchanent Data Management Plan, GRAPES project Technical Note, No. 1 European Union
- Roberts, G. and Williams, R.J. 1997 A review of the treatment of household wastes and the characterisation of sewage effluents - IH report
- Robinson, M. 1997 The impact of forests and silvicultural practices upon the extreme flows of rivers (FOREX) CEH Report, Wallingford
- Robson, A.J., Reed, D.W. and Jones, T.K. 1997. Trends in UK Floods Proc. MAFF, Keele Conference, July 1997.
- Stewart, J.B., De Bruin, H.A.R., Garatoza Payan, J. and Watts, C.J. 1997. Use of satellite data to estimate hydrological variables for Northwest Mexico. Proc. 21st Annual Conf. of Remote Sensing Society. Remote Sensing

in Action 11-14 Sept. 1995, University of Southampton, 91-98

- Tinnion, M. and Moore, R.J. 1997 The UK Environment Agency North East Region's river flow forecasting and warning system (RFFS). In: J. Handmer (ed.), Flood warning issues and practice in total system design Flood Hazard Research Centre, Middlesex. University. 37-46.
- Wallace, J.S. 1997 Modelling component transpiration in mixed plant communities. Proc International Evapotranspiration and Irrigation Scheduling Conference, San Antonio 585-591.
- Waughray, D.K.N., Moran, D. and Lovell, C.J. 1997. Potential uses for contingent valuation in the evaluation of dryland water resource development projects: a small scale irrigation case study from south-east Zunbabwe. In-Kirkpatrick, C. and Lee, N. (Eds) Sustainable Development in a Developing World. Edward Elgar, London. 200-216
- Waughray, D.K.N., Lovell, C.J., Moriarty, P.M. and Batchelor,
   C.H. 1997. Productive water points. *ICID British Section News* & Views, 24, 11-13.
- Wood, S.L., Jones, D.A. and Moore, R.J. 1997. Design of radar/ raingauge networks for hydrological use. Abstract Annales Geophysicae. Part I Society Symposia. Solid Earth Geophysics & Natural Hazards. NF4: Hydrology of extremes and numerical weather predictions. EGS 22nd General Assembly, Vienna, April 1997, Supplement I to Volume 15, C239.
- Zinuda, A., Corr, D., Bird, P., Blyth, K. and Stuttard, M. 1997. The potential of ASAR for soil moisture monitoring - a simulation study. In: Observations and Interactions, Proc. 23rd Annual Conf. of Rem. Sens. Soc., Reading, 2-4 September 1997.

### Commissioned research reports

Acreman, M.C. (Ed) 1997
Groundwater and River
Resources Action Programme on a European scale. First Annual Report to European Commission
Allen, S.J. 1997. Microclimate modification in spaced tree canopies. Ch. 9 in Agroforestry Modelling and Research Coordination (G.J. Lawson, et al.) Final Report to *ODA* on Project R5652, September 1997

- Arah, J. and Hodnett, M.G. 1997 Handling soil hydrology in agroforestry models. Ch. 4 in Agroforestry Modelling and Research Co-ordination (G. 1 Lawson *et al.*). Final Report to ODA on Project R5652. September 1997
- Arnell, N.W., Reynard, N.S., King, R. Prudhomme, C. and Branson, J. 1997. Effects of climate change on river flows and groundwater recharge: guidelines for resource assessment. Report to *UKWTR*, ref: 977CL/04.1
- Austin, B.N. and Law, F.M. 1997 Yield Analysis for Arlington Reservoir Report to South East Water
- Austin, R.M., Bell, V.A., Jones, D.A. and Moore, R.J. 1997. River Calder Flood Warning Improvements RFFS Model Network. Report to the *Environment Agency*.
- Batchelor, C.H., Cain, J.D., Hilton, J., McNally, S., Sheail, J. and Waughray, D.K.N. 1997. CHASM Combined Hydro-ecological, Agricultural and Socio-economic Modelling – First Progress Report of CEH Integrating Fund CHASM Project
- Batchelor, C.H. and Rosier, P.T.W. 1997. Report on a visit to the KAWAD Project watersheds Report 97/7 to *Department For International Development*
- Bootman, D.B. and Wiihams, R.J. 1997 River Almond Water Quality Study - Part 2: Scenario Analysis: Report to the Scottish Environment Protection Agency, East Region
- Boorman, D.B. and Wilhams, R J 1997 River Almond Water Quality Study – Part I: Model Development + Appendices Report to Scottish Environment Protection Agency, East Region
- Bradford, R.B. and Fauikner, D.S. 1997. Review of Floods and Flood Frequency Estimation in permeable catchments. Final Report to *MAFF*
- Bradford, R.B. 1997. Summary of past management of the Pang. Contribution to GRAPES First Annual Report. *European Union*
- Bullock, A., Gilman, K., McCartney, M.P., Waughray, D.K.N., Blyth, K and Andrews, A.J. 1997.
  Hydrological strategy to develop and manage African wetland resources for sustainable agricultural use. Report to Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- Cain, J.D. 1997. Integrated natural resource management a

review of scientific approaches. Report for CEH Integrating Fund CHASM Project.

- Cain, J.D. 1997. Simulating the soil water balance with special reference to groundwater recharge in two sub-catchments in Zimbabwe using the FRLM model. Second Project Report to ODA.
- Calder, I.R., Reid, E., Nisbet, T., Robinson, M. and Walker, D. 1997. Trees and drought project on lowland England. Scoping study report to the Department of the Environment.

Calver, A. and Lamb, R. 1997. Progress in modelling for flood frequency estimation. Project note to MAFF.

- Croker, K.M., Young, A.R. and Sekulin, A.E. 1997. Development of low flow facilities for Scotland and Northern Ireland. Interim Report to SNIFFER.
- Crooks, S.M. and Naden, P.S. 1997. Assessment of the Epic model for predicting water colour. Report to Yorkshire Water
- Culf, A.D., Gash, J.H.C. and Fisch, G. 1997. Combined carbon, water and energy balances of tropical biomes - atmospheric boundary layer studies. TIGER Report III 1/5A.
- Davies, H.N. and Robinson, M. 1997 An appraisal of water levels at Thorne Moors SSSI 1992-96 Report to English Nature.
- Dent, J.D., Forsyth, G., Pearson, I., Sene, K.J. and Pietersen, K. 1997. Establishment and operation of planning, monitoring and evaluation units and integration of ex-Transkei and ex-Ciskei water supply data into the information system. Annual Report to EU and Dept. of Water Affairs & Forestry, South Africa
- Dixon, A.J. 1997 Burnham Beeches groundwater monitoring 02/04/96 to 15/04/97 Report to City of London Corporation
- Dixon, A.J., Bromley, J. and Robinson, M. 1997. Effects of peat working on groundwater levels beneath conservation areas at Hatfield Moors. Report to English Nature.
- Dixon, A.J. 1997 Peat survey and groundwater monitoring at Packards South-Sections 3.8: 4 of Hatfield Moors, South Yorkshire, March 1997 Report to Levington Horticulture
- Dunbar, M.J., Elliott, C.R.N., Gowing, I.M. and Acreman, M.C. 1997
   Ecologically Acceptable Flows
   Phase II. Volume 4: Riyer Sector scale Extrapolation. Environment Agency R&D Technical Report W34

- Evans, J.G. 1997. Contract: River Basin Management Project: Chile Contract Reference: CNTR 93 2083 A, Visit Report No. 9 to ODA.
- Farquharson, F.A.K., Gunston, H.M. and Calder, I.R. 1997 Integrated Water Resource Management in Southern Africa - An overview of relevant UK supported research. Report to Department for International Development.
- Farquharson, F.A.K. 1997. Integrated water resource management in Southern Africa - an overview of relevant UK supported research. Water Resources Occasional Paper No. 2, Report to Department for International Development.
- Franks, S.W., Beven, K.J. and Lamb, R. 1997. Assessing the utility of distributed data in constraining the behaviour of hydrological models in the Wijlegemse subcatchment. In: F.P. De Troch *et al.* (Eds.), Spatial and Temporal Soil Moisture Mapping from ERS-1 and JERS 1 Data and Macroscale Hydrological Modelling, Final Research Report, EC Environment Research Programme, Chimatology and Natural Hazards
- Gilman, K. 1997. Interim Report on Progress of Hydrological Evaluation of Reedbed Recreation at Ham Wall, Somerset. Contract report to Somerset County Council, the RSPB and NERC
- Gunston, H.M. and Roster, P. 1997. A hydrological catchment management consultancy for St Helena, Final Report to DFID
- Gustard, A. and Cole, G.A. 1997 Advances in regional hydrology through East European Cooperation. Final Report () Commission of European Communities
- Gustard, A. 1997, Pan European Studies, p52-58. GRAPES - First Annual Report to Commission of European Communities.
- Haverkamp, R., Bouraour, F. and Ragab, R. 1997. GRAPES. Groundwater and River resources Action Programme on a European Scale. First Annual Report by the Vadoze zone modelling group. EU Progress Report
- Houghton-Cair, H.A. 1997. Bulyanhulu Gold Mine Tanzaniareview of hydrological baseline study and pieliminary assessment of surface water resources Report to Dames & Moore
- Houghton-Carr, H.A. 1997 Restatement of the FSR Rainfall-Runoff Method: first draft. Flood

Estimation Handbook Volume 4. Report to MAFF.

- Hudson, J.A., Roberts, G., Eatherall, A., Jolankai, G., Kwadijk, J. and Perk, v.d.M. 1997. INCAMOD Integrated Catchment Models for Supporting Water Management Decisions, First year progress report to the EC, 73 pp. EC Contract Nos. ENV4-C195-0187 and IC20-CT96-0023. Report to the EC.
- Hughes, C., Likeman, M.C., Sene, K.J., Tate, E.L., Bradford, R.B., Reynard, N.S., Hopfgarten, S., Stevens, L., Le Dizes, J.M., Limneos, S. and Lux, S. 1997. CHEWS - First Annual Report to the Welsh Office.
- Hughes, S., Dowrick, D.J., Brittain, S.A., Reynolds, B., Hudson, J.A., Hill, P.J., Crane, S.B., Hughes, W.A. and Freeman, C. 1997. The Cerrig yr Wyn wetland manipulation study. Final report to the Welsh Office for the second phase of Contract WEP 120/100/6
- Institute of Hydrology 1997 Development of improved methods for snownielt – " forecasting: Annual Progress Report to the Scottish Office for the period November 1996 to October 1997 Contract Report to the Scottish Office.
- Institute of Hydrology 1997 ith EurAqua Technical Review Report to *EurAqua*
- Institute of Hydrology and British Geological Survey 1997. Hydrological Summaries of Great Britain – Twelve monthly reports on hydrological conditions throughout Great Britain for the Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions
- Jenkins, A. and Renshaw, M. 1997 An assessment of the EU acidification strategy B1 scenario and the timing of emission reductions using the MAGIC model at UKAWMN sites Contract report for the Department of the Environment. Transport and the Regions
- Jenkins, A. and (Editor) 1997 CLIMEX project: Results from the third year of treatment, May 1996 December 1996. Final report to the EU.
- Jones, D.A. (1997) Further evaluation of a Bayesian scheme for model updating and forecasting using a rainfall-runoff model. Report to MAFF.
- Littlewood, LG., Watts, C.D., Green, S., Marsh, T.J. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Aggregated river mass loads for Harmonised Monitoring Scheme catchments grouped by PARCOM coastal zones around.

Great Britain. Report to the Department of the Environment.

- Littlewood, I.G., Watts, C.D., Green, S., Marsh, T.J. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1997. Aggregated river mass loads for Harmonised Monitoring Scheme catchments grouped by PARCOM coastal zones around Great Britain. Report to the Department of the Environment
- Marks, S.D. 1997 The impact of particulate outputs associated with timber harvesting. Quarterly Progress Report to the Environment Agency.
- Marsh, T.J. and Littlewood, I.G. 1997. The 1995 drought and limited drought-break: hydroclimatological background and potential impact on river mass loads. Report to the *Environment Agency*.
- Naden, P.S., Calver, A., Samuels, P. and Ash, J. 1997. Whole catchment modelling: a basis for an integrated approach to catchment management. Scoping study report to MAFF.
- Naden, P.S., Calver, A., Samuels, P.G. and Ash, J. 1997. Whole Catchment Modelling: the basis for an integrated approach to catchment management. Report to MAFF.
- Price, D.J., Calder, I.R. and Hall, R.L. 1997. Water balance of African lakes. Report to ODA.
- Price, D.J., Calder, I.R. and Hall, R.E. 1997. Water resource modelling for large catchments. Report to ODA.
- Price, D.J. 1997. Water resource modelling for large catchments. Report to ODA.
- Ragab, R. and Austin, B.N. 1997. HYDROMED - Programme of research on hill reservoirs in the semi-arid zone of the Mediterranean periphery - An overview of hydrological models and processes. Report to the EU.
- Ragab, R. 1997. The Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance (HELP) Model - an overview & evaluation report. Report to the *Environment* Agency.
- Rees, H.G. and Cole, G.A. 1997. Estimation of renewable water resources in the European Union Report to the *CEC*.
- Renshaw, M. and Jenkins, A. 1997 Techniques for critical-load assessment in China – Report to UNECIA Ltd
- Roberts, G., Cooper, D.M. and Eatherall, A. 1997. Prediction of acidification and recovery on a landscape scale. Report to *National Power*.
- Robins, N.S., Calow, R.C., Macdonald, A.M., Macdonald,

D.M.J., Gibbs, B.R., Orpen, W.R.G., Mtembezeka, P., Andrews, A.J., Appiah, S. and Banda, K. 1997. Groundwater management in drought-prone areas of Africa. British Geological Survey Technical Report WC/97/ 57, Overseas Geology Series

- Robinson, M., Moore, R.E., Nisbet, T.R. and Blackie, J.R. 1997. From moorland to forest-the Coalburn catchment experiment. Report to the Forestry Commission and the Environment Agency.
- Sefton, C.E.M. and Jenkins, A. 1997 Hydrochemical Modelling -MAGIC Applications; In: Final on the Acid Waters Survey for Wales, Vol. I. Report to the Welsh Office, Environment Agency, Forestry Commission and the Countryside Council for Wales.
- Sene, K.J. and Davies, H.N. 1997. A brief review of rating equations for river flow gauging stations in the Guadiana Basin. Report to the *CEC*.
- Sene, K.J. 1997. Hydrometric monitoring in the Lebanon, final report - October 1997. Report to DFID
- Sene, K.J. 1997. Preliminary review of CWSS-related databases for Eastern Cape Province. Report to the EU and Dept. of Water Affairs & Forestry, South Africa.
- Sene, K.J. 1997. Review of Eastern Cape databases. Report to DFID.
- Sene, K.J. 1997. St Lucia watershed and environmental management project — training for Hydata Software Report to ODA.
- Smith, D.M., Jackson, N.A. and Roberts, J.M. 1997. Root quantity. activity and below-ground competition in *Grevillea robusta* agroforestry systems Annual Report to the *Forestry Research Programme, DFID.*
- Stevens, P.A., Allott, T.E.H. and Crane, S.B. 1997. Lakes chemistry and biology. In: Final Report on the Acid Waters Survey for Wales, Vol I. Report to the Welsh Office, Environment Agency, Forestry Commission and the Countryside Council for Wales
- Stevens, P.A., Reynolds, B., Ormerod, S.J., Skotnicki, A., Brewin, P.A., Renshaw, M., Neal, C., Norris, D.A., Lowe, J.A.H., Hudson, J.A. and Crane, S.B. 1997. Stream chemistry. In: Final report on the Acid Survey for Wales (Stevens, P.A., Reynolds, B., Ormerod, S.J. (Eds)),Vol. 1. Report to *Centre for Ecology and Hydrology / Bangor Research Unit*.
- Stuttard, M., Zmuda, A., Bird, P., Corr, D., Blyth, K. and Ragab, R

1997. Study of spatial andradiometric resolution of spaceborne SAR data for hydrological applications. Progress Report 3 to the *CEC*.

- Tate, E.L. and Sene, K.J. 1997. Notes on the use of the Institute of Hydrology's climate changemodule. Report to the *CEC*.
- Waughray, D.K.N. 1997. Economic impacts of the hot summer and unusually warm year of 1995.
   Report to the Department of the Environment.
- Waughray, D.K.N. and Marsh, T.J. 1997. Chapter 7 Economic Impacts of the Hot Summer of 1995. The Water Sector'. In: Palutikof, J., Subak, S. and Agnew, M. (Eds) Economic Impacts of the Hot Summer and Unusually Warm Year of 1995. (Report to the Department of the Environment, February 1997). CRU/SERGE. Report to the Department of the Environment.
- Wilkinson, R.J., Reynolds, B. and Neal, C. 1997. The impact of conifer harvesting and replanting on upland water quality, R&D Progress Report P2/i502/6 to the *Environment Agency*.
- Wilkinson, R.J., Reynolds, B. and Neal, C. 1997. The impact of conifer harvesting and replanting on upland water quality, R&D Progress Report P2i502/7 to the *Environment Agency*.
- Wood, M., Borbély, M., Dixon, A.J., Douka, C., Györi, Z., Issa, S., Kátai, J., Marshall, A., Pussemier, L., Vanderheyden, V. and Vizantinopoulos, S. 1997.
  Herbicide degradation in the subsurface and aquifer environment in Europe. Report to the *CEC*.

#### 1998 Refereed publications

up to the time of going to press

- Acreman, M.C., Dunbar, M.J. and Gustard, A. 1998. Guidelines for sustainable management of groundwaterfed catchments: Proc. 23rd General Assembly of the European Geophysical Society, Nice, France, 20-25 April 1998.
- Andrews, A.J., Mwakalinga, I.P. and Bullock, A. 1998. Chapter 2 - Southern Africa FRIEND River Flow Archive. In: "Southern Africa FRIEND".Technical Documents in Hydrology No.15.UNESCO, 15-22.
- Andrews, A.J. and Bullock, A. 1998. Chapter 3 - Southern Africa FRIEND Spatial Data Base In: "Southern Africa FRIEND" Technical Documents in Hydrology No.15.UNESCO, -23-39.
- Besien, T.J. Jarvis, N.J. and Williams, R.J. 1998.
  Simulation of water movement and Isoproturon behaviour in a heavy clay soil using the Macro Model. Special Issue, EGS Hydrol J (Armstrong, A C and Jarvis, N.J. (Eds)), 4, 835-844.
- Blackie, J.R., Houghton-Carr, H.A., McCartney, M.P. and Moores, J.P. 1998 Estimation of groundwater recharge on Jersey. In. Robins. N. (ed.). Special Publication of the Geological Society Groundwater pollution. aquifer recharge and vulnerability, 143-152.
- Breemen, N.V. Jenkins, A.,
  Wright, R.F., Arp, W.,
  Beerling: D.J., Berendse, F.,
  Beier, C., Collins, R.P., Dam,
  D.V., Rasmussen, L., Verburg,
  P. and Wills, M.A. 1998.
  Impacts of elevated carbondioxide and temperature on a boreal forest ecosystem (CLIMEX project). Ecosystems 1, 345-351.
- Bullock, A and Andrews, A.J. 1998. Chapter 1 -Introduction to Southern Africa FRIEND. In: "Southern Africa FRIEND" Technical Documents in Hydrology No 15.UNESCO: 1-13.
- Bullock, A., Andrews, A.J. and Mngodo, R. 1998. Chapter 4 -Regional Surface Water Resources and Drought Assessment. In "Southern Africa FRIEND" Technical Documents in Hydrology No.15 UNESCO, 40-92
- Bullock, A., Mkhandi, S., Andrews, A.J. and Hughes, D.A. 1998 Chapter 7

Conclusions and Recommendations for Further Research. In: "Southern Africa FRIEND". Technical Documents in Hydrology No.15. UNESCO. 151-159.

- Burke, E.J., Gurney, R.J., Simmonds, L.P. and O'Neill, P.E. 1998. Using a modelling approach to predict soil hydraulic properties from passive microwave measurements. *IEEE Trans. Geosci & Remote Sensing* 36, 454-462.
- Cain, J.D., Batchelor, C.H., Gash, J.H.C. and Harding, R.J. 1998. Comment on the paper "Towards a rational definition of potential evaporation" by J.P. Lhomme. Hydrol & Earth System Sci. 2, 137-137
- Collins, A.E., Walling, D.E. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998. The use of composite fingerprints to determine the provenance of the contemporary suspended sediment load transported by rivers. Earth Surf. Proc. & Landforms, 23, 31-52
- Collins, R.P., Jenkins, A. and Sloane, W.T. 1998 A GIS framework for modelling nitrogen leaching from agricultural areas in the Middle Hills, Nepal. Int. J. Geogr. Inf. Sci. 12, 479-490.
- Collins, R.P. and Neal, C. 1998. The hydrochemical impacts of terraced agriculture. Sci Total Environ 212, 233-245
- Cooper, D.M. and Naden, P.S. 1998. Approaches to delivery modelling in LOIS Sci Total Environ, 210/211, 483-498.
- Dunbar, M.J., Acreman, M.C. and Elliott, C.R.N. 1998. River flow objectives Abstract concept or practical tool Proc 23rd General Assembly of the European Geophysical Society. Nice, France, 20 25 April 1998.
- Eatherall, A., Boorman, D.B., Williams, J.W. and Kowe, R. 1998. Modelling in-stream water quality in LOIS. *Sci Total Environ* **210/211**, 499-518.
- Eatherall, A., Naden, P.S. and Cooper, D.M. 1998. Simulating carbon flux to the estuary: the first step. *Sci Total Environ* **210/211**, 519-534.
- Finch, J.W. and Harding, R.J. 1998 A comparison between reference transpiration and measurements of evaporation for a riparian grassland site.

Hydrol & Earth System Sci 129-136

- Forsius, M., Alveteg, M.
  Jenkins, A., Johansson, M., Kleemola, S., Lukewille, A., Posch, M., Sverdrup, H. and Walse, C. 1998, MAGIC, SAFE and SMART model applications at integrated monitoring sites: effects of emission reduction scenarios. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 105, 21-30.
- Garatuza-Payan, J. Shuttleworth, W.J. Encinas, D. McNeil, D.D., Stewart, J.B. de Brain, H.A.R. and Watts, C. 1998 Measurement and modeling evaporation for irrigated crops in north-west Mexico. *Hydrol. Proc.* 12, 1397-1418
- Green, S. and Marsh, T.J. 1997. A consideration of rainfall, runoff and losses at Plynlimon in the context of long term hydrological variability in the UK and maritime Western Europe (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK), Hydrol & Farth System Scir. 1, 399-407
- Gunston, H.M. 1998 Field bydrology in tropical countries - A practical nitroduction Intermediate Technology Publications, London
- Hall, R.L., Allen, S.J., Rosier, P.T.W. and Hopkins, R 1998. Transpiration from coppiced poplar and willow measured using sap flow methods Agric For Meteorol 90, 275-290
- Harding, R.J. and Lloyd, C.R. 1998 Measurements of water and energy fluxes from a high latitude tundra site in Svalhard "Northern Research Basins' Proc Eleventh International Symposium and Workshop, Prudhoe Bay/Fairbanks. Alaska, 18-22 August 1997 Eleventh International Symposium and Workshop Northern Research Basins, Alaska, 18 August 1997, II, 73-93
- Haria, A.H. McGrath, S.P. Moore, J.P. Bell, J.P. and Blackshaw, R.P. 1998. Impact of the New Zealand flatworm (Artioposibia triangulata) on soil structure and hydrology in the UK. Sci. Total Environ 215, 259-266.
- Helliwell, R.C., Soulsby, C., Ferrier, R.C. Jenkins, A. and Harriman, R. 1998. Influence of snow on the hydrology

and hydrochemistry of the Allt a'Mharcaidh, Cairngorm mountains, Scotland Sci Total Environ **217**, 59-70

- Houghton-Carr, H.A., McCartney, M.P., Robins, 'N.S. and Blackie, J.R. 1998. Spatial and temporal variability of groundwater recharge on the Channel Island of Jersey. In Wheater, H.S. & Kirkby, C. (eds) Hydrology in a changing Environment, Vol II John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 243-252
- Hudson, J.A., Gilman, K. and Calder, I.R. 1997. Land use and water quality issues in the uplands with reference to the Plynlimon study Hydrology and Earth Systems Sciences (Special Issue Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK1) **1**, 389-398.
- Hudson, J.A. Crane, S.B. and Robinson, M. 1997 The impact of the growth of new plantation forestry on evaporation and streamflow in the Llanbrynmair catchments, mid Wales Hydrol & Earth Systems Sci (Special Issue Water Quality of the Plyntimon Catchments (UK)) **1**, 463-476
- Hughes, S., Freeman, C.
  Reynolds, B. and Hudson,
  J.A. 1998 The effects of increased drought frequency on sulphate and dissolved organic carbon in peatland dominated catchments.
  Proc. 2nd Int. Conf. Climate and Water (Eds. Lemmela, R. & Helenius, N.), *Climate and Water, Helsinkr*, 1, 314-319.
- Huntingford, C. and Monteith. J.L. 1998. The behaviour of a mixed-layer model of the convective boundary-layer coupled to a big leaf model of surface energy partitioning. *Botoid Tayer Meteorol.*, 88, 87-101.
- Huntingford, C., Blyth, E.M. Wood, N. Hewer, F.E. and Grant, A. 1998. The effect of orography on evaporation Bound Layer Meteorol. 86, 487-504.
- Jahiruddin, M., Smart, R., Wade, A.J., Neal, C. and Cresser, M.S. 1998. Factors regulating the distribution of boron in water in the River Dee catchment in north east Scotland. Sci. Total Environ 210/211, 53-62.
- Jarvie, H.P., Whitton, B.A. and Neal, C. 1998 Nitrogen and phosphorus in east coast UK

tivers: speciation, sources and biological significance *Sci Total Environ*. **210/211**, 79-109.

- Jenkins, A., Helliwell, R.C., Swingewood, P., Sefton, C.E.M., Renshaw, M. and Ferrier, R.C. 1998, Will reduced sulphur emissions under the Second Sulphur Protocol lead to recovery of acid sensitive sites in UK? Environmental Pollution
- Johnson, A.C., White, C.;
   Besien, T.J. and Jurgens, M.D. 1998. The sorption potential of octylphenol, a xenobiotic oestrogen, to suspended and bed sediments collected from industrial and rural reaches of three English rivers. Sci Total Environ. 210/211, 271-282
- Jones, H.K. and Cooper, J.D. 1998. Water transport through the unsaturated zone of the Middle Chalk a case study from Fleam Dyke lysimeter In: Robins, N.S. (Eds) Groundwater Pollution, Aquifer Recharge and Vulnerability. Geological Society, Special Publications, London, 117-128
- Kowe, R., Skidmore, R.E., Whitton, B.A. and Pinder, A. 1998. Modelling phytoplankton dynamics in the River. Swale: NE England Sci. Total Environ. 210/211, 535-546.
- Leeks, G.J.L. and Jarvie, H.P. 1998 Introduction to the Land-Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS): Rationale and International Context Sci. Total Environ 210/211, 5-20
- Lewis, D.R. Williams, R.J. and Whitehead, P.G. 1998 Quality simulation along rivers (QUASAR): An application to the Yorkshire Ouse. Sci. Total Environ. 194/5, 399-418
- Lilly, A **Boorman, D.B.** and Hollis, J.M. 1998. The development of a hydrological classification of UK soils and the inherent scale changes. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* **50**, 299-302.
- Littlewood, I.G., Watts, C.D. and Custance, J.M. 1998 Systematic application of United Kingdom river flow and quality databases for estimating annual river mass loads, 1975 to 1994. Sci Total Environ 210/211, 21-40

- Lloyd, C.R. 1998. The application of an instrument for non-destructive measurements of soil temperature and resistance profiles at a high Arctic field site. Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. 2, 121-128.
- Lundberg, A., Harding, R.J. and Calder, I.R. 1998. Evaporation of intercepted snow modelling of the aerodynamic resistance. J. Hydrol. 206, 151-163.
- Maszle, D.R., Whitehead, P.G.
  Johnson, R.C. and Spear.
  R.C. 1998. Hydrological studies of schistosomiasis transport in Sichuan Province, China. Sci. Total Environ 216, 193-204
- McCartney, M.P. and Houghton-Carr, H.A. 1998. A modelling approach to assess inter-sectoral competition for water resouces in the Kafue Flats, Zambia J. CIWEM 12, 101-106.
- McCartney, M.P., Butterworth, J.A., Moriarty, P. and Owen, R. 1998, Comparison of the hydrology of two contrasting headwater catchments in Zimbabwe: IAHS Proceedings Headwater '98 Conference, Italy, 1998, IAHS Publication No. 248, 515-522
- McCartney, M.P., Neal, C. and Neal; M. 1998. Use of deuterium to understand runoff generation in a headwater catchment containing a dambo – Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. 2, 65-76.
- Moore, R.J. 1998. Flood hazard research within the European Commission 1987 to 1996 Keynote Lecture. In Casale, R., Pedroli, G.B. & Samuels, P. (eds): RIBAMOD River basin modelling, management, and flood mitigation Concerted action Proc. 1st workshop, Delft, 13-15 February 1997, EUR 18019 EN, European Commission, Luxembourg, 7-22
- Morecroft, M., Taylor, M. and Oliver, H.R. 1998 Air and soil microclimates of deciduous woodland compared to an open site. Agric. For Meteorol. 90, 141-156.
- Moriarty, P.B. and Lovell, CJ. 1998 Groundwater resource development in the context of farming systems intensification and changing rainfall regimes a case study from south east Zimbabwe Agricultural Research &

- Extension Network 81, 15-22. Neal, C. 1997. Boron water quality of the Plynlimon catchments. Hydrolo. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK)) 1, 619-627.
- Neal, C. 1997. Introduction to the Special Issue of Hydrological and Earth System Sciences. 'The water quality of the Plynlimon catchments' Hydrol. & Earth Systems Sci. (Special Issue: Water Quality of the Plynlimon Catchments (UK) 1, 385-388.
- Neal, C., House, W.A. and Down, K. 1998. An assessment of excess carbon dioxide partial pressures in natural waters based on pH and alkalinity measurements. *Sci. Total Environ.* 210/211, 175-186
- Neal, C., Fox, K.K., Harrow,
  M.L. and Neal, M. 1998.
  Boron in the major UK rivers entering the North Sea. Sci. Total Environ 210/211, 41-52
- Neal, C., House, W.A., Whitton, B.A. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998.
   Conclusions to Special Issue: Water quality and biology of United Kingdom rivers entering the North Sea; The Land Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS) and associated work. Sci. Total Environ. 210/211, 585-594.
- Neal, C., Harrow, M.L. and Williams, R.J. 1998.
  Dissolved carbon dioxide and oxygen in the River Thames. Spring-summer 1997. Sci. Total Environ. 210/211, 205-218
- Neal, C., House, W.A., Whitton, B.A. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998. Foreword: Water Quality and Biology of UK rivers entering the North Sea: The Land Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS) and associated research Sci Total Environ. (Special Issue) 210/211
- Neal, C., House, W.A., Whitton, B.A. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998. Forward to Special Issue: Water quality and biology of UK rivers entering the North Sea: The Land Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS) and associated work (Forward) Sci Total Environ 210/211, 1-i
- Neal, C., Robson, A.J., Wass, P., Wade, A.J., Ryland, G.P., Leach, D.V. and Leeks, G.J.L 1998, Major, minor, trace

element and suspended sediment variations in the River Derwent. Sci: Total Environ. 210/211, 163-172.

- Neal, C., Robson, A.J., Wass, P., Wade, A.J., Ryland, G.P., Leach, D.V. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998. Major, minor, trace element and suspended sediment variation in the River Derwent. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 210/211, 163-172.
- Neal, C., Robson, A.J., Shand,
  P., Edmunds, W.M., Dixon,
  A.J., Buckley, D.K., Hill, S.,
  Harrow, M.L., Neal, M. and
  Reynolds, B. 1998. The occurrence of groundwater in the Lower Palaeozoic rocks of upland Central Wales. Hydrol. & Earth
  Systems Sci. 1, 3-18.
- Neal, C., House, W.A., Jarvie, H.P. and Eatherall, A. 1998. The significance of dissolved carbon dioxide in major lowland rivers entering the North Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 210/211, 187-203
- Prudhomme, C. 1998. Mapping a statistic of extreme rainfall in a mountainous region. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth* (Special issue: Proceedings of the E4 Advanced Summer School, University College, Cork, Ireland June 1997).
- Ragab, R. and Blyth, K. 1998. Method for vertical and time extrapolation of ERS-SAR soil moisture information. In: Tan-Duc Guyenne (Eds) Satellite Data in Hydrology. Experience with ERS. ESA Publication Division, ESTEC, Nordwijk, The Netherlands. 52-53.
- Rees, H.G. and Croker, K.M. 1998. Software for smallscale hydropower estimation: Int Symp. Hydrology of Ungauged Streams in Hilly Regions for Small Hydropower Development, New Delhi, India, 9-10 March, 1998, 11-20.
- Renshaw, M., Collins, R.P.,
  Jenkins, A., Arndt, R. and Carmichael, G. 1998.
  Predicting the effect of atmospheric pollution in soil and surface water acidification in the Middle Hills of Nepal. Sci Total Environ. 208, 71-80.
- Roberts, A.M. and Moore, R.V. 1998 Data and databases for decision support *Hydrol*. *Proc* 12 (Special Issue, GIS Applications in Hydrology), 835-842.

- Roberts, G. 1998 The effects of possible future climate change on evaporation losses from four contrasting UK water catchment areas *Hydrol. Proc.* 12, 727-739
- Robinson, D.A., Gardner, C.M.K., Evans, J.G., Cooper, J.D., Hodnett, M.G. and Bell, J.P. 1998. The dielectric calibration of capacitance probes for soil hydrology using an oscillation frequency response model. *Hydrol. & Earth System Sci.* 2, 111-120.
- Robson, A.J.: Jones, T.K., Reed,
  D.W. and Bayliss, A.C. 1998
  A study of national trend and variation in UK floods. *Int. Journ Climatol* 18, 165-182.
  Rosier, P.T.W. 1998.

Hydrological impact of broad-leaved woodlands. East Midland Geographer (Special Issue) **21**, 67-70.

- Sene, K.J.: Jones, D.A., Meigh, J.R. and Farquharson, F.A.K. 1998 Rainfall and flow variations in the Lesotho Highlands. Int.J. Climatology. 18, 329-345.
- Sene, K.J. and Farquharson, F.A.K. 1998 Sampling errors for water resources design: the need for improved hydrometry in developing countries. J. Water Manage 12, 121-138.
- Sene, K.J 1998. The effect of variations in net basin supply on lake levels and outflows. *Hydrol Proc.* 12, 559-573.
- Simmonds, L.P. and Burke, E.J. 1998. Estimating near-surface soil water content from passive microwave remote sensing an application of MICRO-SWEAT Hydrol. Sci. J. (Special Issue - Monitoring and Modelling of Soil Moisture Integration over Time and Space) 43, 521-534.
- Smith, D.M., Jarvis, P.G. and Odongo, J.C.W. 1998. Management of windbreaks in the Sahel-the strategic implications of tree water use. Agroforestry Systems 40, 83-96
- Smith, D.M. and Jarvis, P.G. 1998 Physiological and environmental control of transpiration by trees in windbreaks. For. Ecol. & Manage. 105, 159-173.
- Soulsby, A., Chen, M., Ferrier, R.C., Helliwell, R.C., Jenkins,
  A. and Harriman, R. 1998. Hydrogeochemistry of shallow groundwater in an

upland Scottish catchment
 Hydrol. Proc. 12, 1111-1127.

- Stewart, J.B., Engman, E.T., Feddes, R.A. and Kerr, Y.H. 1998. Scaling up in hydrology using remote sensing: summary of a Workshop. Int J. Remote Sensing 19, 181–194.
- Taylor, C.M. and Lebel, T. 1998 Observational evidence of persistent convective scale rainfall patterns *Montbly Weather Review* 126, 1597-1607.
- Tomasella, J. and Hodnett, M.G. 1998 Estimating soil water retention characteristics from limited data in Brazilian Amazonia. Soil Sci 163, 190-202.
- Verhoef, A. and Allen, S.J. 1998. The relative importance of surface and aerodynamic resistances in a multi-source energy-CO<sub>2</sub> model *Phys. Chem. Earth* 23, 459-465.
- Waughray, D.K.N., Mazhangara, E.M. and Lovell, C.J. 1998. Using groundwater to generate economic benefits: a case study from south-east Zimbabwe World Development, 26(10).

#### **Other** publications

- Arnell, H. and Griffin, J.H.
  (Eds) 1998. Hydrology in a Changing Environment Poster papers and index BHS International Conference, University of Exeter, 6-10 July 1998. Institute of Hydrology on behalf of British Hydrological Society, Wallingford.
- Black, A.R., Law, F.M. and Scarrott, R.M.J. 1998. Chronology of British Hydrological Events. BHS Web pages.
- Bottrell, C.M. 1998. Remote Access to Wallingford Network - A Discussion Paper. Institute of Hydrology, Wallingford.
- Bradford, R.B. 1998. Research Topic Paper 4. Rechargedischarge frequency. In. Permeable lowland catchment research: Review of chalk hydrological research issues, Vol. 2. January 1998.
- Bradford, R.B.Ed 1998. Permeable lowland catchment research review

of chalk hydrological research issues. Vol 1 Main Report and Vol 2 Research Topic Papers. January 1998

- Cain, J.D. 1998. Belief networks A new tool for natural resource management. *DFID Natural Resources News*, **8**, 2-2.
- Cain, J.D. 1998. Modelling evaporation from plant canopies. Institute of Hydrology Report No. 132, Wallingford
- Cooper, J.D. 1998. Book Review. Subsurface Flow and Transport: A Stochastic Approach (1997) (Gedeon, D and Newman, P.S. [Eds]) ISBN 0-521-57257. 6 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Hydrol. & Earth System Sci. 2, 141-142.
- Croker, K.M. and Rees, H.G. 1998. Software package puts small hydro on the map. International Water Power & Dam Construction (March 1998), 40-41.
- Dwyer, I.J. and Lammering, B. 1998. Relationship between multifractal analysis of rainfall time series and spatial data. (European Geophysical Society XXIII General Assembly, Nice, April 1998). Annales Geophysicae: European Geophysicae: European Geophysical Society XXIII General Assembly, Nice, France, April 1998, Suppl. IV (C1071) (Abstract).
- Dwyer, I.J. and Lammering, B 1998 Using multifractal description of spatial rainfall in GCMs (European Geophysical Society XXIII General Assembly, Nice, April 1998.) Annales Geophysicae: European Geophysical Society XXIII General Assembly, Nice, France, April 1998, Suppl. IV (PC1071). (Abstract)
- Flavin, R.W., Andrews, A. and D.G. Morris, 1998. The European Rivers and Catchments 1:1M Geographic Database (ERICA-1M) International Conference on quality, management and availability of data for hydrology and water resources management, Koblenz, Federal Republic of Germany, 22 March 1999 (Abstract).
- Fosberg, M. and Gash, J.H.C. 1998 Land management implications of the HAPEX-Sahel study. *Global Change Newsletter*, 35, 8-9.

- Gash, J.H.C. 1998. Contributions to Encyclopaedia of Ecology and Environmental Management. In: Calow, P. (Ed) Encyclopaedia of Ecology and Environmental Management. Blackwell Science Ltd. Oxford. 1-805.
- Gash, J.H.C. 1998. LBA gets off the ground. *Global Change Newsletter* 33, 8-9.
- Green, S. 1997. Non-stationarity in selected long rainfall records in western Europe. *MSc Dissertation*, Imperial College, London.
- Gustard, A. and Rees, H.G. 1998. Advancing cooperation between GEWEX Continental Scale Experiments and FRIEND. Evidence to: GEWEX Hydrometeorological Panel.
- Gustard, A., Croker, K.M. and Rees, H.G. 1998. Developing regional design techniques for estimating hydropower potential: Int. Symp. Hydrology of Ungauged Streams in Hilly Regions for Small Hydropower Development, New Delhi, India, 9-10 March 1998.
- Gustard, A., Acreman, M.C. and Rees, H.G. 1998. Key issues for the successful implementation of spatial policies in the field of water resources. Seminar on Spatial Planning and Water Management: Droughts and Floods. Thessaloniki, 2-3 July 1998.
- Hodnett, M.G. 1998. Flow processes in the unsaturated zone of the chalk. Lowland Catchment Research – Review of Chalk Hydrological Research Issues, Vol. 2. Research Topic Paper 1. (IH/CEH Internal Report). Institute of Hydrology, Wallingford.
- Hudson, J.A., Crane, S.B., Hill,
  P.J., Hughes, W.A., Robinson,
  M., Reynolds, B., Williams,
  D., Brittain, S.A., Wood, M.J.,
  Truscott, A.M., Beaumont,
  W.R.C., Winder, J.M.,
  Tipping, E. and Nicholls, J.
  1998, Upland forest canopy
  closure the implications for
  chemistry, hydrology and
  ecology. Institute of
  Hydrolomy, Wullingford
- Hydrology, Wallingford, Jennings, S.E. 1998 HydrA V1.0. Atlas Europeo del Potential Hidroeléctrico con Pequenas Centrales: Referencia Técnica y Guiá del Usuario, 104pp
- Law, F.M. and Gunston, H.M.

1998. Histories of Drainage Areas. ADA Gazette, Summer 1998, 34-38.

- Law, F.M. 1998. Hydrology in a Changing Environment. Connections Neusletter of UNED-UK (Aug.-Oct. 1998), VII.
- Law, F.M. and Flavin, R.W. 1998. World Meteorological Organization Hyperlinks in Hydrology for Europe and the Wider World.
- Law, F.M. 1998. The Exeter Statement, 10 July 1998. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences.
- Marsh, TJ. 1998. Long river flow records. In: R.W. Herschy (Ed.), Hydrometry: Principles and Practices. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.
- Marsh, T.J. 1998. Maximising the utility of hydrometric data. In: R.W. Herschy (Ed.). Hydrometry: Principles and Practices. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.
- Marsh, T.J. 1998. Hydrological Extremes (Lecture Course). Imperial College/Royal Holloway University, MSc in Environmental Management. (Brochure)
- Marsh, T.J. 1998. Hydrology at Highdown. *Third Millenium*, 1 (4).
- Marsh, T.J. 1998. The European Drought of 1988/92. In: Herschy, R.W. and Fairbridge, R.W. (Eds). Encyclopædia of Hydrology and Water Resources. Kluwer Academic Publishers, London, 211-214
- Marsh, T.J. and Green, S. 1998. 1997 Yearbook. Hydrological review of the year. Hydrological Data: UK
- Marsh, T.J. and Green, S. 1998. Water Watch 1997-98. Selected text and maps from the Monthly Hydrological Summaries for Great Britain.
- Marsh, T.J. and Lees, M.L. 1998. Hydrometric Register and Statistics 1991-95. Institute of Hydrology.
- Moore, R.J. 1998 The application of radar to rainfallrunoff modelling. In: Hardaker, P. (ed.). Radar in, the Environment Part 2: The 1997 Programme. Observations Division Special Seminar Series, Radar Systems Team, The Met Office
- Moore, R.V. and Evans, J. 1998. Environmental Data Management Software. (Brochure).

- Moore, R.V. 1998. Launch of the LOIS CD-ROM. LOIS Issue 12. (Newsletter).
- Reed, D.W. and Houghton-Carr, H.A. 1998. The Flood Studies Report rainfall-runoff method: a reply. . *Circulation*, **57**, 13-14.
- Reynard, N.S., Prudhomme, C. and Crooks, S.M. 1998. Impact of climate change on the flood characteristics of the Thames and Severn rivers: In Proc. 2nd RIBAMOD Workshop: Impact of climate change on flooding and sustainable river management, 26-27 February 1998, HR Wallingford, UK.
- Roberts, G., Hudson, J.A. and Crane, S.B. 1998. The effects of possible future climate and land use change on streamflow from contrasting catchment areas in the UK and the available management options to ameliorate these effects. Springer International, 16. Suppl. II, C453. (Abstract).
- Robinson, M. 1998 Dictionary definitions. In: Herschy, R.W. and Fairbridge, R.W. (Eds) *Encyclopædia of Hydrology*. *and Water Resources*. Kluwer Academic Publishers. London
- Robinson, M., Moore, R.E., Nisbet, T.R. and Blackie, J.R. 1998. From moorland to forest: the Coalburn catchment experiment. *Institute of Hydrology Report No* 133. Wallingford.
- Smith, D.M. 1998 Book review Temperate Agroforestry Systems – A.M. Gordon & S.M. Newman (eds). Tree Physiology, 18, 713-714
- Tindall, C.I. 1997. LOIS Chemical Determinand Dictionary Second Edition. LOIS Publication. Institute of Hydrology, Wallingford.
- **Tindall, C.I.** et al. 1998. Land Ocean Interaction Study (LOIS) Overview CD-ROM documentation.
- Waughray, D.K.N. and Batchelor, C.H. 1998. Using contingent valuation to help design socially sensitive water payment systems in dryland areas. *DFID Water*. *Issue no. 6.*
- Wheater, H. and Kirby, C. (Eds). 1998. Hydrology in a Changing Environment. 3 vols. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.

### Commissioned research reports

- Calver, A. 1998. Groundwater recharge assessment. Phase II: scoping. study. April 1998. Interim Report. Report to the Environment Agency.
- Calver, A., Lamb, R., Harding, R., Young, A.R., Gustard, A., Ash, J. and Hickman, M. 1998. Groundwater recharge assessment: Phase II Business Case. Briefing Report Report to the Environment Agency
- Calver, A., Lamb, R. and Davies, FL 1998. Modelling floods from combined surface and subsurface sources: research strategy Report to MAFF.
- Croker, K.M., Young, A.R., Sekulin, A.E. and Round, C.E. 1998. Low flow estimation in Yorkshire final report In Annual Report for GREAT-ER. Report to *ECETOC*.
- Dixon, J.M. and Rees, H.G. 1998 Provision of River Flow Data to the North and Irish Seas (FRIEND). Report to DETR.
- Evans, J.G. 1998 River basin management project. Chile Visit Report No. 13 Report to *DFID* (contracted by Newcastle University).
- Ferrier, R.C. Littlewood, I.G., Hurst, D. and Watts, C.D. 1998. Review of the Harmonised Monitoring Scheme (Scotland) 1974-1994. Report to SEPA / Scottisb Office
- Finch, J.W. 1998. Post drought soil water recharge interim report. Report to the *Environment Agency*.
- Forsius, M. Guardans, R. Jenkins, A., Lundin, I. Nielsen, K.E. and (Eds) 1998: Integrated Monitoring: Environmental Assessment through Model and Empirical Analysis Final results from the EU/Life project "Development of Assessment and Monitoring Techniques at Integrated Monitoring Sites in Europe" Report to the Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions / European Union.
- Gilman, K., Hudson, J.A. and Crane, S.B. 1998. Final report on hydrological evaluation of reedbed re-creation at Ham Wall. Somerset Report to Somerset County Council / English Nature / RSPB.
- Hall, R.L., Milne, R. Lawson, G.J., Verhoef, A. Mobbs,

- -

D.C., Huntingford, C., Brown, T., Allen, S.J. and Wallace, J.S. 1998. Combined growth and water use modelling of mixed vegetation. Report to the *CEH*.

- Harding, R.J., Blyth, E.M., Taylor, C.M. and Thorpe, A.J. 1998.
  Understanding SVATS for global modelling using mesoscale meteorological and hydrological models.
  Activities in 1996. Annual Report on NERC TIGER project III 2b
- Hodnett, M.G. 1988, Soil
   Physics. Section 5, Soil
   Physics. 5th Interim Report of the MISIRI-IH Drip
   Irrigation Research Project Report to MISIRI.
- Houghton-Carr, H.A. 1998 Kielder reservoir probable maximum flood study Report to *Babtie Group Ltd*, *Glasgow*
- Houghton Carr. H.A. 1998. Restatement of the FSR Rainfall Runoff Method. Report to MAFF and the Flood Estimation Handbook Advisory Group.
- Hudson, J.A., Roberts, G., Crane, S.B., Eatherall, A. Jolankai, G. and Van der Perk, M. 1998. INCAMOD Development of INtegrated CATchment MODels for Supporting Water Management Decisions Report to EC
- Institute of Hydrology and British Geological Survey 1998 Hydrological
  Summaries of Great Britain.
  (ed T.J. Marsh) Report to the Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions / the Environment Agency / OFWAT / SEPA.
- Institute of Hydrology 1998. Significant hydrological events in the United Kingdom. Report to World Meteorological Organization, Genera.
- Jackson, N.A., Smith, D.M., Roberts, J.M., Wallace, J.S. and Ong, C.K. 1998. Water balance of agroforestry systems on hillslopes. Phase II. Report to *DFID*.
- Jones, D.A. 1998. River Levels on the Upper-Tidal Thames Barrier Closure Rule Study. Results from the Joint Probability Analysis. Report to Halcrow Group Ltd.
- Law, F.M. and Tate, E. 1998. Options for increasing East Sussex Rother Yield. Report to *South East Water*

- Lloyd, C.R. 1998. LAPP: Land Arctic Physical Processes - 2nd Annual Report. Report to EC Environment & Climate DGXII
- Marks, S.D. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998. The impact of particulate outputs associated with timber harvesting. EA R&D Technical Report P140 Report to the Environment Agency.
- Marks, S.D. and Leeks, G.J.L. 1998 The impact of particulate outputs associated with timber harvesting. EA R&D Project Record P2/ii65/19. Report to the Environment Agency.
- Marsh, T.J. and Green, S. 1998. Climate Change Indicators River flows, groundwater levels, and water demand. Report to the Department of the Encironment, Transport and the Regions.
- Marsh, TJ and Green, S. 1998. Rainfall, replenishment and resources. Report to Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions.
- Marsh, T.J. and Littlewood, I.G. 1998 The 1995 drought and limited drought-break: hydroclimatological background and potential impact on river mass loads. In: Post-drought flush effects upon river water quality and sediment transport in upland and lowland catchments. Report to the *Environment Agency*.
- Meigh, J.R. 1998. River Levels on the Upper Tidal Thames. Barrier Closure Rule Study. Analysis of previous closure decisions Report to Halcrow Group Ltd.
- Moffat, T.J., Shaw, R.P., Tindall, C.T. Williams, S.R. and Jones, R.C. 1998. Urban Regeneration and the Environment Programme. Data Management and Quality Assurance Scoping Study. June 1998. Report to URGENT Programme DATA Commutee.
- Naden, P.S. and Watts, C.D. 1998. Development of the Epic Colour Prediction Model Phase II. Report to Yorkshire Water
- Neal, C. Reynolds, B. and Harrow, M.L. 1998. The impact of conifer harvesting and replanting on upland water quality. R&D Progress Report to the Environment Agency, P2i502/8 Report to the Environment Agency.
- Rees, H.G. and Cole, G.A. 1998. Regional Flow Regimes for Small-scale Hydropower Assessment, Phase I: Feasibility Study Report on proposed study in India and Nepal, to the Department for International Development
- Reynard, N.S., Prudhomme, C Faulkner, D.S., Robson, A.J.

and Reed, D.W. 1998. Climate change and the frequency of short-duration heavy rainfall in central England. Report to *Severn Trent Water*.

- Reynard, N.S., Prudhomme, C. and Crooks, S.M. 1998. Climate change impacts for fluvial defence. Report to *MAFF*.
- Roberts, G., Cooper, D.M., Cosby, J., Eatherall, A., Jenkins, A. and Gannon, B. 1998. Prediction of acidification and recovery on a landscape scale. Contract GT00244. Final Report to National Power
- Roberts, J.M., Allen, S.J.,
   Wallace, J.S. and Holwill, C.J. 1998. Water use by vegetation in the Sahel. Report to *DFID*.
- Rosier, P.T.W. 1998, A. preliminary analysis of soil moisture measurements from St Helena from September 1997 to February 1998. Report to Water Strategy Planing Group on St Helena.
- Round, C.E. and Young, A R 1998, Questionnaire to the Environment Agency: Low Flows Research Technical Report 1 23pp Report to the Environment Agency / NERC.
- Round, C.E. and Young, A.R. 1998. Technical Report 5: Extension of the flow data set and derivation of catchment characteristics. Report to the *Environment* Agency / NERC
- Sene, K.J., Kollmann, T. and Forsythe, G. 1998. DWAF Eastern Cape province. catalogue of datasets available. Report to the European Union / Department of Water Affairs and Forestry. South Africa.
- Simpson, G., Ackroyd, D., Finch, J W. and Turrell, R. 1998. CEO-Water Companies – Final Report to CEO Water Companies.
- Smith, D.M., Jackson, N.A., Roberts, J.M. and Ong, C.K. 1998 Root quantity activity and below-ground competition in *Grevillea robusta* agroforestry systems. Report to *Forestry Research Programme*, *DFID*.
- Stewart, J.B., McNeil, D.D.,
  Stroud, M.R., de Bruin,
  H.A.R. Garatuza-Payan, J.,
  Diaz-Maldonado, S., Camara-Duran, O., Encinas, D., Watts
  Thorp, C.J. and Rodriguez, C.
  1998 Estimation of actual evaporation for irrigated crops and semi-arid

rangeland in north-west Mexico using satellite data. Report to the CEC.

- Stuttard, M., Blyth, K., Zmuda, A., Bird, P. and Corr, D. 1998. Study of spatial and radiometric resolution of space-borne SAR data for hydrological applications. Report to RSAC Ltd.
- Tindall, C.J. 1997. River Validation report for the Institute of Hydrology's 1:50,000 scale digital river network for England and Wales. Report to the Environment Agency.
- Wallingford Water 1998. (Reed. D.W., Houghton-Carr, H.A., Prudhomme, C., Jakob, D., Bayliss, A.C.) Upper Ouse Catchment, North Yorkshire. Hydrological and Hydraulic Study. Final Report No. EX3912 to the Environment Agency.
- White, W.R., Reed, D.W., Millington, R.J. and Houghton-Carr, H.A. 1998. Upper Ouse catchment hydrological and hydraulic study. Inception Report to the Environment Agency
- Young, A.R., Round, C.E. and Gustard, A. 1998. Annual Report 1997-98. Enhanced low flow estimation at the ungauged site and modelling historical flow sequences at the ungauged site. Report to the *Environment Agency / NERC*.
- Young, A.R. and Round, C.E. 1998: Annual Report, January 1998: Institute of Hydrology Report to *GREAT-ER*
- Young, A.R. 1998. Benchmarking rainfall runoff models within the Anglian Region. Final Report. Report to the *Environment Agency*.
- Young, A.R., Round, C.E., Sekulin, A.E. and Croker, K.M. 1998. Low Flows Research Technical Report 2: Pilot study to determine the sampling errors in the estimation of mean flow and flow duration statistics from gauged flow records. Report to the Environment Agency / NERC
- Young, A.R. 1998. Quarterly Progress Report: February May 1998. Report to *GREAT ER*.
- Young, A.R., Round, C.E., Sekulin, A.E. and Gustard, A 1998. Technical Report 4: The Timing of low flow events in the UK 24pp. Report to the *Environment* Agency / NERC

- Young, A.R. 1998. Technical Report 6: Evaluation of rainfall runoff models for use within a regionalisation scheme. Report to the Environment Agency / NERC.
- Young, A.R., Round, C.E. and Sekulin, A.E. 1998. Technical Report No. 3: Sampling errors in the estimation of mean flow and flow duration statistics from gauged records in the UK. Report to the Environment Agency / NERC.
- Young, A.R. 1998. Technical requirements document, Hydrological Modelling: Phase II. Technical Report 9. 6pp Report to *GREAT-ER*.

# *Location of CEH sites*

### Centre for Ecology & Hydrology Directorate

1. Wallingford

#### Institute of Freshwater Ecology

- 2. Windermere
- 3. Wareham
- 4. Edinburgh

#### Institute of Hydrology

- 5. Wallingford
- 6. Plynlimon

#### Institute of Terrestrial Ecology

- 7. Monks Wood
- 8. Merlewood
- 9. Edinburgh

11 0

4 0 9

12

- 10. Furzebrook
- 11. Banchory
- 12. Bangor

105

3 10

Institute of Virology & Environmental Microbiology 13. Oxford

58 INSTITUTE OF HYDROLOGY SCIENTIFIC REPORT 1997-98

-----

### CEH REPORT RANGE 1997-98













Ecology & Hydrology

http://www.ceh-nerc.ac.uk





http://www.nwl.ac.uk/ih





Institute of Virology and Environmental Microbiology

http://mail.nox.ac.uk/



#### ISBN 1 85531 199 2

Institute of Hydrology Wallingford,Oxon OX10 8BB, United Kingdom Telephone: +44 (0) 1491 838800 Fax: +44 (0) 1491 692424 Email: web@ua.nwl.ac.uk Internet: http://www.nwl.ac.uk/ib